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In Millions, Except For Per Share Data 1998 1997 1996

Gross income $1,763.1 $1,701.9 $1,414.4
Income before provision for restructuring 131.9 111.9 102.7
Net income (loss) 131.9 (50.9) 102.7
Common shares outstanding at year end (A) 49.3 48.9 40.5

Per common share (A)

Income before provision for restructuring
Basic $ 2.68 $ 2.34 $ 2.22
Diluted 2.62 2.25 2.10

Net income (loss)
Basic 2.68 (1.28) 2.22
Diluted 2.62 (1.28) 2.10

Dividends declared 1.00 .92 .86
Year-end stock price 37.88 36.28 24.25

Total assets $4,939.3 $4,947.8 $4,750.2
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GATX FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

(A) Amounts have been restated to reflect the 2-for-1 stock split in June 1998.

(B) Excludes effect of $163 million after-tax restructuring charge, which resulted in Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share of ($1.28).

(C) Annualized
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RAIL SERVICES STRATEGIES KEY STATISTICS

FINANCIAL SERVICES/LEASING

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

GATX RAIL

GENERAL AMERICAN TRANSPORTATION

GATX CAPITAL RAIL GROUP

AAE—(EUROPE)

KVG—(EUROPE)

GL RAILEASE (EUROPE)

CGTX—(CANADA)

GATX DE MEXICO

LOCOMOTIVE LEASING PARTNERS

n Railcar and locomotive leases to railroads 
and shippers that serve the chemical, petroleum,
coal, food, rail, and other freight markets

n Full-range of rail leasing offerings 
n Full-service maintenance and repair
n Fleet management
n Structured financial rail transactions

n Provide customers with one-stop service for 
all railcar leasing needs

n Expand automated services through 
state-of-the-art Internet products

n Expand internationally 
n Extend service capabilities
n Increase number of railcars managed through

partnerships
n Combine asset management skills 

with service solutions

n Largest North American tank car lessor
n Interests in 148,000 railcars
n Interests in nearly 1,000 locomotives
n Eight service centers across North America
n 48 mini-mobile railcar repair units 

in North America

GATX CAPITAL

GATX CAPITAL AIRCRAFT PARTNERSHIPS

GATX FLIGHTLEASE

GATX GULFSTREAM

GATX CAPITAL RAIL PARTNERSHIPS

GATX CAPITAL STRUCTURED FINANCE

GATX CAPITAL DIVERSIFIED PORTFOLIOS

GATX CAPITAL TECHNOLOGY SERVICES

GATX CAPITAL MARINE/SHIP/
BARGE INVESTMENTS

n Investment origination in rail, air, technology,
marine, and other equipment assets

n Financial partnering expertise
n Secondary lease market acquisitions
n Portfolio management
n Structuring of tax-advantaged and cross-

border financings

n Continue to invest to increase pool 
of earning assets

n Control more assets through partnerships
n Capitalize on long-term industry expertise in 

air, rail, marine, and technology assets
n Global resources 
n Full range of technology leasing solutions

n World’s third largest independent aircraft lessor
n Owns, manages, has interests in $11 billion

(original equipment cost) of assets
n Key partnerships with more than 50 companies
n GATX Capital invested $853 million in 1998

GATX TERMINALS

GATX LOGISTICS

AMERICAN STEAMSHIP

GATX LIQUID LOGISTICS

GATX INVENTORY MONITORING

SERVICES

PAXIS

n Bulk liquid storage and distribution services
n Pipeline connections and distribution
n Great Lakes shipping
n Extensive third-party integrated logistics 

services for chemical, petrochemical, petroleum,
and dry products

n Remote tank monitoring
n Vendor managed inventory
n Internet, EDI, and electronic commerce 

integrated applications
n Commercial package distribution

n Expand GATX’s share of its customers’ and
potential customers’ distribution dollars

n Capitalize on worldwide trends to outsourcing
n Focus on chemical and petrochemical 

industries where GATX has substantial
competitive advantage

n Focus on significant petroleum storage and
distribution capabilities

n Expand capabilities internationally
n Provide integrated distribution solutions 

for customers

n Stores and distributes 10 percent of North
American refined petroleum

n One of the three largest independent petroleum
storage and distribution companies in the world

n With 100 warehouses and 23 million square feet
of warehouse space, GATX is one of the largest
contract logistics providers

n Largest capacity U.S. Great Lakes fleet



CHAIRMAN’S LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS
Ron Zech, Chairman and Chief Executive 
Officer at the New York Stock Exchange

By intensely focusing on shareholder

value, GATX reported its fifth consecu-

tive year of record operating earnings.

This has resulted from strategic expan-

sion and improvement in our service.

By integrating railcar leasing and ser-

vices, financial services, and supply

chain management, GATX offers its

customers more effective and economi-

cal financial and operational alterna-

tives in domestic and foreign markets.

1
998 was an excellent year for GATX. We reported record earnings and achieved our fifth

consecutive year of record operating profits. Operations were strong in all of our business

lines, highlighted by record years at our two largest income-earning operating companies,

General American and GATX Capital, and by a strong rebound at GATX Terminals. 

For the year, GATX earned $132 million or $2.62 per share, an 18 percent increase over 1997,

excluding that year’s special charge. Our return on equity was 19 percent. I am pleased to

report these excellent financial results, but, of equal importance, I am excited about the

progress that we made in a number of strategically important areas that will enhance our ability

to keep growing. I look forward to sharing examples with you throughout this annual report.

Our primary objective is to generate excellent long-term returns for our shareholders. 

Over the past three years, GATX’s total return to shareholders on an annualized basis was

nearly 20 percent. Despite an 18 percent increase in our profits in 1998, GATX’s total return

to shareholders was 7 percent, well below the S&P 500 and Midcap 400 indices, but higher

than the Dow Jones Transportation Average. I am not pleased with how we did in 1998 on

this score. It is my goal and my expectation that we will be able to achieve shareholder

returns which better reflect the record levels of earnings that GATX is achieving.

The best way to generate shareholder returns over time is to increase the rate of profitable

growth of the company. To this end, we have embarked on three substantial efforts that 

I expect will generate significant long-term value. I want to devote much of the remainder 

of this letter to discussing our efforts to:
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n ENHANCE THE VALUE OF OUR ASSETS

n ESTABLISH NEW PLATFORMS FOR FUTURE EARNINGS

n CREATE A GROWTH CULTURE

Before I do that, however, I want to comment briefly on our strong operating results and on

several steps that we are taking to generate value by utilizing our capital effectively. At General

American Transportation, railcar additions were at record levels, utilization remained high, and

our international joint ventures made an increased contribution. GATX Capital had a great year

for both new investments and remarketing; its markets are strong, and the portfolio is in excellent

condition. The transformation at GATX Terminals is proceeding nicely, assisted by strong market

conditions. GATX Logistics continues to make substantial progress in its evolution from ware-

housing to a broad-based integrated logistics company and added a number of attractive new con-

tracts. American Steamship had a very strong operating year until the end of the season when the

impact of increased imports of foreign steel began to be felt. All in all, 1998 was an excellent year

for operations which are discussed in more detail in other sections of this annual report.

GATX is a capital-intensive company so the effective use of capital can substantially enhance

profitability. This is a focus area for GATX which I call “working our capital smarter.” 1998 was

an important year for these efforts, in three respects. First, we aggressively stepped up to some

under-performing asset situations. Since the announcement in late 1997 of the restructuring of 

our GATX Terminals subsidiary, we have sold nine terminals in the United States and the 

United Kingdom which did not fit into our strategic plan. One or two additional sales are

planned. Over the course of 1998, we experienced disappointing results in our technology equip-

ment reselling business, and, earlier this year, we announced our intention to exit this business.

Second, we financed the bulk of our 1998 new railcar additions utilizing the non-recourse

leveraged lease financing approach that we used in 1997. In so doing, we have again added a

substantial number of assets to our income earning portfolio without tying up the equity 

that would have been required if a less innovative financing approach had been taken. A look

at our balance sheet will show that our total assets remained constant, so our return on 

assets increased by 16 percent. Less visibly, but very importantly, we are changing the ways 

we measure the profitability of our many business segments and how we charge for capital

internally—to ensure that it is focused in our most profitable business opportunities.

Third, 1998 was a terrific year for another of GATX’s equity management strengths: partner-

ing. As you will read below, we dramatically expanded our partnering activities, with existing and

new partners, which will allow us to participate in growing ventures while minimizing the expen-

diture of valuable capital. Partnering is a key skill that we have at GATX. To be a good partner,

you need to think differently, and we have demonstrated a unique ability to do so. The many
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partnerships that we have created over the years have enabled us to leverage our financial and

asset management capabilities, creating a much larger pool of earning assets than if we had relied

only on our own capital. Let me turn now to the three important efforts I mentioned earlier.

ENHANCE THE VALUE OF OUR ASSETS Making attractive investments that will profitably

grow our asset base will always be an important objective. However, enhancing the value of

those assets is also critically important to improving the growth in GATX’s profitability. This

is not a new concept for us. Throughout our company’s 100 years of service to our customers,

we have often provided more than the asset itself. We have differentiated ourselves in the mar-

ketplace and distinguished ourselves from our competitors by providing an ever-expanding list

of services which complement our assets. In recent years, however, we have dramatically

increased our efforts to develop new service offerings.

We are bringing logistics solutions to customers across the corporation. Our heritage in this

effort comes from GATX Logistics, a leader in supplying logistics services to a number of indus-

try segments involving dry goods. These same skills and capabilities are applicable to many of our

existing chemical and petroleum assets and customers, and we are devoting considerable effort to

developing solution-driven capabilities in our liquids businesses. Logistics services—in the form

of rail logistics, terminalling logistics, liquid logistics, chemical supply chain management and

remote tank monitoring services—will be an important and growing component of what we do.

GATX is increasingly able to supply its customers with value-adding services, which are impor-

tant to their operations, and therefore increase the inherent value of our assets.

In previous annual reports, I have used the term “Intercompany Collaboration” to describe

GATX’s efforts to blend and bundle its existing services in order to provide a greater scope of

services to our customers. Where appropriate, we are changing our organizational structure by

developing customer focused teams and fewer customer contact points. Through these efforts,

GATX will evolve to provide a wider range of transportation, distribution and logistics capa-

bilities across the entire supply chain. We are also bringing our financing expertise to many of

our non-financial activities. As evidenced by the success of GATX Capital and by the sophis-

tication of the financings of our own assets, we have financial skills that can be brought to

bear on the financing needs of our customers. We provide critical information about the asset

and its contents with GATX’s value-adding Internet/Technology and Information Services. We

are increasingly integrating technology to support and enhance the asset, financial and supply

chain expertise that we have traditionally supplied to our customers. The investment commu-

nity is justifiably enthusiastic about what companies can accomplish with Internet-based tech-

nology. We invite our investors to visit the GATX web site to see the following array of use-

ful, profitable, on-line applications that GATX provides to its customers.

4



If you visit the Liquid Logistics site within our web-warehouse at www.gatx.com, you will

see how GATX allows its customers to track inventories—or any measurable attribute—from

tanks located anywhere in the United States. GATX Logistics’ website provides in-depth

information about its services. In 1999, this site will offer a “pipeline view” to ensure that its

customers can track where their product is in the supply chain on a real-time basis. Visit the

GATX Rail site and see how our customers can access the mechanical record and other asset

information of any railcar in the GATX fleet. At the GATX Capital site, we provide in-depth

information about GATX Capital and its business lines. In the GATX Terminals site, see the

capabilities of any of GATX’s terminal locations, worldwide. All of these sites, in addition to

the current GATX stock price and other investor relations information such as press releases

and SEC filings are available at the GATX investor relations site. 

ESTABLISH NEW PLATFORMS FOR FUTURE EARNINGS I am a great believer in the value of

creating platforms which serve as bases from which a growing stream of future business and

profits can flow. 1998 was an exceptional year for GATX as we created a number of new plat-

forms that will serve us well in the years to come.

While our largest asset segment is rail, we have historically had two separate groups serving

various customer requirements. This diluted our effectiveness. In 1998, we went to market as

GATX Rail, a marketing platform from which we offer a single face to the customer and a

comprehensive range of assets, financing structures, and services second to none, worldwide.

In the past few years, we have aggressively expanded our rail presence in global markets. 

We now have substantial activities in Canada and Mexico, as part of a broad North American

strategy and in Continental Europe through two successful joint ventures. In 1998, we estab-

lished a new platform for further rail growth in the United Kingdom. Our initial investments

were a passenger rail transaction with Virgin Rail and a freight car financing for the English,

Welsh and Scottish Railway. Both of these transactions were done through GL Railease, a

joint venture with National Westminster and GATX Capital. GATX is capitalizing on the

global trend that many state-owned railroads are privatizing. The knowledge, capabilities, and

services that GATX has developed from its leadership in the domestic market can be exported

into these new and growing markets. These capabilities are in high demand by these newly

restructured or privatized organizations.

Perhaps the best examples of platform building occurred in our aircraft activities. GATX 

is among the oldest and most experienced companies in the aircraft leasing industry. Over 

the past three decades, GATX’s air business has evolved from a company that provided full-

payout finance leases to a company that focuses on operating leases, primarily in European

markets and has established an extensive group of partnerships through which it operates.
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In 1998, GATX formed three new air partnerships, each of which substantially enhances

our role in the air-leasing industry. First, we announced a marketing agreement between

GATX and the SAir Group (Swissair). This partnership will provide a wider range of financ-

ing solutions, together with a larger and more balanced aircraft portfolio and a broader 

customer base. SAir Group brings an airline’s wealth of experience, contacts and industry

knowledge; GATX brings the capabilities and expertise of an established, successful financial

services company. The resulting joint venture represents an organization with the scale, exper-

tise, and operational effectiveness to be a major global competitor.

Second, in our new partnership with Gulfstream Aerospace Corporation, GATX expanded

its activities in the business aviation lease market by becoming the first and only short-term

operating leasing company providing large-cabin, long-range Gulfstream business aircraft. 

The third new air partnership is with Rolls-Royce & Partners Finance, Ltd. and expands

GATX’s air leasing activities into providing spare jet engines for commercial aircraft. Taken

together, these new partnership platforms provide excellent prospects for future growth and

lead me to conclude that 1998 may well have been the most strategically important year in

GATX’s history of aircraft leasing.

In 1998, three new platforms relating to logistics services came of age. Our Rail Logistics

effort, launched in 1997, added several new customers and is now actively involved in fleet

management. As a part of our Liquid Logistics effort, we have created GATX Inventory

Monitoring Services, and are building a new range of supplier managed inventory capabilities

around our proprietary Internet-based remote tank monitoring capabilities. And we formed

Paxis, a joint venture between GATX Logistics and Lockheed Martin. Paxis will take advan-

tage of a new rate structure from the U.S. Postal Service and will soon be a significant factor in

the business-to-residential package delivery market—a market whose already rapid growth is

being accelerated by E-commerce. Paxis is a great example of what I want GATX to do—use

our operational expertise, logistics knowledge, and partnering skills to aggressively enter a

new business with exciting prospects and excellent growth opportunities.

CREATE A GROWTH CULTURE All of us, employees and shareholders alike, benefit from a

company dedicated to growth. To create a growth culture, we have initiated a number of pro-

grams designed to clearly define the goals for each employee, each business unit, and the com-

pany as a whole. We have increased our internal expectations of what constitutes an acceptable

level of growth and have modified our compensation programs to reward exceptional perfor-

mance. These “pay for performance” plans are designed to motivate our employees toward

profitable growth opportunities. We have created an environment where certain values—

high ethics, creativity, aggressiveness, and enthusiasm—are hallmarks of GATX’s culture. 
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I also expect all of us at GATX to have some fun together in achieving these new goals—and

nothing is more fun and rewarding than building a successful and growing company. In last

year’s annual report, we dedicated several pages to the history of our company, which cele-

brated its 100th anniversary in 1998. An intercompany task force developed the goals of our

centennial which were:

n GIVE BACK TO OUR COMMUNITIES

n MAKE A LASTING DIFFERENCE IN THE PERCEPTION OF GATX IN THE

COMMUNITIES IN WHICH IT PARTICIPATES

n ENHANCE THE GATX CULTURE THAT VALUES TEAMWORK

GATX’s employees built three playgrounds near GATX facilities in communities that did not

have them. A particular highlight of my year was opening one of these playgrounds with Chicago

Mayor Richard M. Daley. GATX sponsored a national food drive (“Tanksgiving”) with the

Second Harvest organization in which more than 50 tons of food were collected and donated to

food pantries. As part of this food drive, GATX’s website sponsored a parallel activity in which

school classrooms could win money to purchase food to be donated to food depositories. GATX

brought a full-size tank car to the New York Stock Exchange where we invited our customers to

help us celebrate our history as one of the 100 oldest companies traded on that exchange. 

As you can tell, our approach to the celebration of our centennial was centered around our

customers and our employees. I was proud to work alongside our employees as they gener-

ously volunteered their time, energy, and creativity to complete these substantial projects.

GATX has great employees. My 6,000 associates are, indeed, the people who do the work that

supports the customer and makes a profit for the company. As we increasingly provide ser-

vices and information to complement our assets, our employees will be the critical difference

in representing us to our customers. Please join me in thanking them and our outstanding

board of directors for their individual and collective contributions that led to this record year.

Sincerely,

RONALD H. ZECH

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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FOR OUR INVESTORS

FOR OUR CUSTOMERS

GATX creates long-term shareholder value by 

targeting a 15% return, defined as the sum of the

average annualized earnings per share growth

and dividend yield. Growth will be accomplished

by expanding our existing business lines, identi-

fying new growth platforms, increasing our use

of partnering, and working our equity base

more effectively.

GATX provides its customers with railcar leasing,

repair and management, financial services, and

supply chain management. Through our family

of operating companies, we provide transporta-

tion, distribution, storage and technology assets.

GATX offers a broad variety of operational and

technological services that enhance and add value

to these assets. GATX develops and encourages

a culture where the contributions of our employ-

ees exceed our customers’ expectations.
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GATX FINANCIAL MEASURES

94 95 96 97 98

Cash From Operations
Dollars in Millions

$375

$300

$225

$150

$   75

94 95 96 97(B) 98

Portfolio Proceeds
Dollars In Millions 

$1,000

$800

$600

$400

$1200

94 95 96 97(A) 98

Return On Equity
In Percent

25 %

20 %

15 %

10 %

5 %

(A) Excludes effect of $163 million
after-tax restructiong charge.
Including the charge, 1997 Return
on Equity would be (7.1%).
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Investments In 
Affiliated Companies
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Portfolio Investments
Dollars In Billions
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$  .8

$  .6
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Book Value
Per Share (A)
In Dollars

$20

$16

$12

$  8

$  4

(A) Book Value Per Share has
been restated to reflect the 2-for-1
stock split in June 1998.
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Capital Additions
Dollars In Millions

$600

$480

$360

$240

$120
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Capital Expenditures
And Portfolio
Investments
Dollars In Billions

$1.5

$ 1.2

$   .9

$  .6

$  .3



GATX BUSINESS OVERVIEW
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GATX RAIL

L
everaging the strengths, knowledge, and capabilities

of both GATX Capital’s Rail Group and General

American Transportation Corporation, GATX Rail

brings together the financial engineering expertise 

of a leader in investment, portfolio management, and asset

remarketing with the rail activities of one of North

America’s largest and oldest lessors of railcars. GATX

Rail provides a broad array of solutions which include

flexible railcar leasing, fleet management services, mainte-

nance options, innovative financing, design services, regu-

latory compliance, and data analysis. These efforts are

supported by international strategic partnerships. By inte-

grating capabilities and expertise, GATX Rail is focused

on providing customers with rail solutions worldwide.

GENERAL AMERICAN TRANSPORTATION With 97,000

railcars in its fleet, General American operates the largest

tank car fleet in North America and a significant fleet of

specialty freight cars. General American provides a broad

scope of rail solutions worldwide in the areas of railcar

A key strategy of GATX is to
leverage its current market 
leadership positions by combin-
ing existing areas of expertise. 
A good example is GATX Rail
that combines the operating 
and repair knowledge of 
General American Transpor-
tation with the financing, asset,
and industry capabilities of 
GATX Capital.

In addition to its eight “one-stop” repair facilities
and its 48 mini-mobile repair units, General
American provides railcar repair and inspection 
services at its customers’ plant sites. In Midland,
Michigan, General American repairs railcars at a
Dow Chemical facility. This broad range of services
helps our customers maximize the time their rail-
cars are in productive use.
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GATX Distribution Of Assets
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GATX Railcar Fleet
Interest In 148,000 Cars 

Tank Cars . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 53%
Covered Hoppers. . . . . . . . . . . . . . 16%
Grain Cars. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 12%
Coal Cars. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11%
Boxcars & Gondolas. . . . . . . . . . . . 4%
Other. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .4%

4%

11%
12%

16%

53%

GATX Rail Fleet By Region

United States. . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . 81%
Europe. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .10%
Canada. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8%
Mexico & Other. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .1%

10%

81%

8%
1%

GATX Interest in Railcars

General American
Transportation Tank Cars. . . . . .74,000
GATX Capital Railcars. . . . . . . .  51,000
General American
Transportation Freight Cars. . . .23,000

51,000

23,000

74,000



supply, railcar design, railcar maintenance, railcar man-

agement, and railcar finance.

General American’s fleet consists of more than 50

different car types from general service cars to pres-

sure service cars designed to transport over 700 com-

modities safely. These cars transport chemicals,

petroleum, plastic, food, agricultural and forest prod-

ucts, coal, minerals, and consumer products.

General American primarily provides railcars to ship-

pers under leases that include cars and a broad range 

of value-adding services to assist the customer in the 

efficient operation of these cars. Supporting General

American’s railcar maintenance efforts are 48 mini-

mobile repair units that form an integrated service net-

work throughout North America. Customers also

receive services at four one-stop service centers in the

United States, three in Canada, and one in Mexico.

General American has been an industry leader in

utilizing the Internet to help its customers manage their

fleets. Offerings include an extranet that provides cus-

tomers with up-to-date mechanical and service informa-

tion on their fleet, extensive information about General

American, and a rich, interactive environment encourag-

ing communication with customers. In addition, General

American has extended its extranet to suppliers for the

purpose of efficient and timely car maintenance activities. 

General American continues to capitalize on market

opportunities. Recent legislation has mandated more

stringent repair guidelines and many shippers may not

want to continue to service their own fleets. This creates

an opportunity for General American to buy fleets and

lease them back to their original owners while providing

additional value-adding services. General American’s his-

toric skill as a lessor and its outstanding reputation as a

service provider make these types of transactions possi-

ble. Trends away from on-road trucking because of the

safety and efficiency of rail transport have also created

new market opportunities for General American.
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GATX RAIL

GATX CAPITAL RAIL GROUP GATX Capital’s fleet

has over 51,000 cars, including coal, aggregate, hopper,

and other general purpose cars. GATX Capital primar-

ily leases to Class I and Regional railroads. In addition,

it provides rolling stock to shippers requiring railcars.

GATX Capital optimized its portfolio in 1998 by

opportunistically selling highly-valued assets at premi-

ums while purchasing other rail assets at attractive valu-

ations that also have significant upside potential. GATX

Capital’s asset expertise gave it a competitive advantage.

Market conditions remain strong and railroads are plac-

ing a high demand for additional general purpose cars.

LOCOMOTIVE LEASING PARTNERS Through a joint

venture with the Electro-Motive Division of General

Motors (EMD), GATX Capital leases a large, modern

fleet of nearly 1,000 locomotives to railroads through-

out North America. Railroads require efficient, reliable

locomotives to allow them to provide a high quality

transportation product to their customers. Locomotive

Rail Logistics is an innovative
new concept being implemented
by GATX Rail. GATX is inte-
grating long-term trends to out-
sourcing, privatization, vendor
managed inventory, and just-
in-time inventory techniques to
assist our customers in maximiz-
ing the value they achieve from
their transportation and distri-
bution assets.
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Leasing Partners (LLP) fills this need through operat-

ing leases of well-maintained, high quality locomotives.

Railroads often turn to LLP to help handle peak-power

needs, or to satisfy a portion of longer requirements

through creatively structured leases. Working closely

with EMD, GATX Capital has been able to acquire,

refurbish and deploy excellent assets that are in high

demand and that perform well for LLP’s customers.

INTERNATIONAL RAIL GATX’s rail business has 

experienced significant international growth in the 1990s.

In 1996, General American Transportation acquired

Canadian railcar lessor CGTX. Approximately half of

CGTX’s 9,400 cars are tank cars. General American also

operates a fleet of nearly 1,400 cars in Mexico. 

In Europe, GATX has a significant interest in rail-

car lessors AAE Cargo and KVG Kesselwagen

Vermietgessellschaft mbH. AAE is the leading general-

purpose freight car lessor in Europe, with a fleet of

almost 7,300 cars operating throughout Europe and the

Combining market, industry, and customer knowl-
edge is a hallmark of GATX Rail’s capabilities.
Through this blend of skill sets, GATX Rail pur-
chased a fleet of aging coal cars. GATX Rail con-
tracted Trinity Industries to cut the cars down to a
smaller cubic capacity and rehabilitate all the run-
ning gear on these cars. The cars have been put
into service to haul aggregate between Houston
and San Antonio for Martin Marietta.
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United Kingdom. Based in Germany and Austria, KVG

provides a modern fleet of 8,100 tank cars to European

shippers of chemicals, food, and petroleum products.

GATX’s rail business also broke new ground in the

United Kingdom late in 1998. Along with its long-term

partner Lombard PLC, a subsidiary of National

Westminster, GATX provided the financing for Virgin

Rail’s new high-speed, state-of-the-art passenger trains.

This transaction marks GATX’s first major foray into the

United Kingdom rail market and significantly expands its

presence in passenger rail financing.

GATX believes that the privatization and commercial-

ization of international rail markets will provide consid-

erable growth opportunities for GATX Rail to expand its

fleets while providing rail transportation solutions

around the world. In particular, the privatization of

Europe’s rail fleets has opened numerous new opportuni-

ties for GATX, especially with its strong market position

through AAE and KVG.



GATX Air maximizes the number of aircraft it con-
trols by partnering with other companies who have
complementary skill sets. In a partnership with
Gulfstream Aerospace, GATX provides operating
leases for Gulfstream IV-SP’s and V’s, the premier
corporate aircraft. Pictured on the next page is a new
B-737-800 leased to Euralair. In 1998, GATX formed a
marketing partnership with SAir Group (Swissair) to
lease aircraft around the world.

GATX AIR GROUP

GATX has ownership, manage-
ment, or marketing interests in
200 commercial jet aircraft.
GATX is the third largest lessor,
worldwide. Being among the 
oldest aircraft lessors, GATX
brings substantial asset and
financial expertise to its custo-
mers, clients, and joint-venture
partners which include more
than 35 worldwide airlines.
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G
ATX Capital leases commercial jet aircraft to 

airlines around the world. The Capital fleet of

about 130 aircraft—or 200 aircraft on a combined

basis with Swissair—consists largely of modern,

Stage III, single aisle aircraft that have a large user base

worldwide, such as B-737s and A320-A321s.

Over the course of 1998, GATX Capital set the stage

for its future growth through several critical partner-

ships and the successful continuation of its new aircraft

order program with Boeing. The formation of GATX

Flightlease Management, a joint venture with an affiliate

of SAir Group (Swissair), created the third largest aircraft

management company in the world. The result of the 

venture is greater knowledge of the aircraft industry, new

inroads into the European airlines in which SAir has an

interest, new opportunities to lease to Swissair, and the

infusion of the financial and leasing strengths of GATX

Capital. GATX Flightlease places GATX Capital in the

forefront of the global aircraft leasing market.

GATX Distribution Of Assets

Air. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 11%

11%

GATX Aircraft Investment
By Type Of Airctraft

A320-A321. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .38%
B-737. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 20%
MD-80/DC-9. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 13%
B-757. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8%
A310. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 8%
MD-11. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 5%
B-767. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 4%
B-747. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 1%
Gulfstream & Other. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 3%

38%

20%
13%

8%
8%
5% 4% 3%

1%

94  95   96   97 98

Revenue Passenger Miles
In Billions

750

600

450

300

150

Source Air Transportation
Association 1998 Estimate



Partnering is a core strategy of GATX Capital and,

through a joint venture with Gulfstream Aerospace

Corporation, in 1998, GATX Capital ordered six

Gulfstream corporate jets. Together with Gulfstream,

GATX Capital will deploy these aircraft on operating

leases worldwide. This is a natural partnership for

GATX that leverages Gulfstream’s operating knowl-

edge and GATX’s financial capabilities.

Capital also purchased a 50 percent ownership posi-

tion in Rolls-Royce & Partners Finance, Ltd., which

leases replacement jet aircraft engines. With a growing

engine portfolio of 90 aircraft engines and industry-lead-

ing market share, Rolls-Royce & Partners Finance pro-

vides GATX Capital with yet another growth platform

with an outstanding operations-oriented partner that has

market-leading expertise.

Rolls-Royce & Partners Finance was the first operat-

ing lessor of spare aircraft engines nearly a decade ago.

Currently, Rolls-Royce & Partners Finance enjoys

approximately one third of this rapidly growing market. 

In the short time that GATX Capital has been involved

with Rolls-Royce & Partners Finance, the new venture 

has invested significant funds in new engines.

GATX Capital’s strategy to expand its aircraft port-

folio through partnerships has allowed it to diversify its

fleet, lower its risk profile, and create enhanced returns

through management fees and residual sharing. Joint ven-

ture partnerships have allowed GATX Capital to broaden

its presence in the aircraft leasing market, while at the

same time achieving diversification in the overall GATX

Capital portfolio. Aircraft investments constitute 28 per-

cent of GATX Capital’s total assets.

GATX Capital has the marketing, financial, and tech-

nical skills necessary to be a successful operating lessor of

commercial jet aircraft. This blending of skills not only

distinguishes GATX Capital from its competitors, but it

creates a market advantage in the management of its air-

craft fleet and attracting new partners.
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GATX TECHNOLOGY GROUP

T
he technology leasing portion of the GATX

Capital Technology Group is healthy and 

growing. The Technology Group leases desk-

top computers and other business technology to

customers. This is one of the fastest growing areas of the

leasing industry as more and more businesses are willing to

outsource the management, purchase, and disposal of com-

puter technology. The Technology Group brings in appro-

priate systems and equipment for the situation and removes,

sells or redeploys computer assets at the end of the lease.

At the end of 1998, the GATX Capital Technology

Group was comprised of technology leasing and a value-

added reselling business (VAR). Despite attempts to make

the VAR business more competitive in the marketplace, 

it has failed to meet acceptable return and growth levels.

GATX is currently in discussions with strategic 

partners and buyers.

GATX has a decade long history of leasing and guaran-

teeing residuals on technology-based assets. While these

GATX Capital Technology
Group provides large corporate
customers with full life-cycle asset
management and information
services. Through extensive offer-
ings, corporate customers receive
a range of integrated and stand-
alone financial, consultative,
operational, and information 
services. GATX brings value-
adding expertise to this large 
and fast growing market.
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assets tend to have relatively short lives, many companies

do not rapidly upgrade computer systems, giving the

Technology Group the opportunity to extend the lease

into terms that are significantly more profitable.

The GATX Capital Technology Group’s assets

under lease have grown from less than $50 million in

1994 to more than $500 million in 1998. To maximize

the use of its equity, the Technology Group funds the

majority of its investments through non-recourse, secu-

ritized financings. GATX believes that its technology

leasing business should generate very strong returns as

more leases mature and are extended.

A new and potentially high growth area for the

Technology Group is Telecommunication Finance,

which provides capital to start-up telecommunication

companies. The GATX Capital Technology Group has

established a joint venture that has knowledge of the

markets and products to evaluate and balance the risk

and reward of such investments.

During 1998, the Technology Group dramatically

advanced its capability to invest in the telecommunications

industry. Telecommunication Finance provides infrastruc-

ture financing to a broad array of start-up and early-

stage service providers that are building alternative com-

munications networks in a deregulated environment. 

The Technology Group has enhanced its risk assessment

abilities with the formation of a $200 million joint venture

with two knowledgeable financial institutions that will

provide the capital necessary to participate in this market

and diversify the investments. This allows GATX to par-

ticipate in the convergence of traditional telephony, data

and internet communications.

GATX has invested in the information technology

industry since 1986, and today has approximately $500

million in assets in this area. Information technology is

one of the largest and fastest growing portions of the

equipment leasing industry, and GATX is well positioned

to participate in this expansion.

The GATX Capital Technology Group provides a full
spectrum of technology services. In addition to leas-
ing equipment ranging from modems, laptops, and
desktops to larger mainframes, the Technology
Group provides ancillary services such as training,
help desks, and repair services. The Technology
Group’s customers are primarily mid-size to large
companies who find that outsourcing their technol-
ogy requirements saves them substantial costs.
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GATX STRUCTURED AND DIVERSIFIED FINANCE

By offering services to structure
transactions and identify invest-
ment partners, GATX is a leader
in buying and selling in the sec-
ondary market for leases and
lease portfolios. Structured and
Diversified Finance links virtu-
ally every new investment made
by the company and our institu-
tional clients.

G
ATX Capital’s Structured and Diversified

Finance Group participates as an investor,

arranger, and manager of capital assets with

respect to equipment other than commercial

jet aircraft, railroad equipment, high technology

equipment, and other core areas of expertise.

In its role as investor, the group is involved in a

multitude of activities. GATX Structured and

Diversified Finance structures leases, loans and invest-

ments generated through both direct marketing to

equipment users and acquisitions in the secondary

market. By combining asset knowledge with financial

structuring skills, Structured and Diversified Finance

is able to offer its customers and partners not only tra-

ditional financial products, but also innovative risk

sharing arrangements. Structured and Diversified

Finance has orchestrated joint venture arrangements

which have allowed the monetization and off-balance

sheet treatment of our partners’ assets. As an investor,

GATX must continually look for new ways to deploy its

capital at attractive risk-adjusted returns. 

In 1998, Structured and Diversified Finance expanded

the range of its financial offerings to include equity-

linked financial products and high-yield debt investments

in selected industries. Structured and Diversified Finance

is also continuing to expand its operating lease and asset-

based lending activities worldwide. In 1999, Structured

and Diversified Finance will focus on offering operating

leases and asset-based financing of marine assets. In addi-

tion, it will continue to work with partners to grow its

residual value guarantee business, which allows lessors to

write operating leases without being exposed to shortfalls

in the value of leased equipment at lease expiration.

In its role as advisor, the group provides investment

banking/advisory services to GATX Capital and other

GATX operating businesses, plays a key role in finding

institutional co-investors, and structures financial trans-
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GATX Structured Finance combines industry and
asset expertise, risk management, innovative struc-
tures, partnering, and financial skills to ultimately
provide leased assets to customers. Like a puzzle,
the combination of skill sets allows our customers
to accomplish complicated financial transactions in
niche areas.



actions for third parties in the United States and cer-

tain foreign markets—often through partnerships.

In its role as asset manager, Structured and

Diversified Finance seeks to maximize the value of

both its owned and managed portfolios. Its group of

equipment professionals has expertise in asset valua-

tion, residual value projection, industry assessment,

and equipment remarketing. In 1998, Structured and

Diversified Finance was able to combine this expertise

and the skills of other GATX companies to sell various

leases into the financial marketplace at values which

were extremely attractive. The group also negotiated

several major equipment dispositions that yielded 

proceeds substantially more than the equipment’s

depreciated book value.

GATX has been a leader in developing secondary

markets for the acquisition of assets and lease portfo-

lios from other financial institutions. Assets and port-

folios purchased in the secondary market often have

shorter remaining lease maturities and provide several

options at lease expiration. The Structured and Diversified

Finance Group provides timely, high quality technical,

analytical, and pricing services across all of GATX Capital

and, in certain cases, to other operating companies of

GATX. To perform these functions, the Structured and

Diversified Finance Group proactively seeks to develop

and apply structuring methods, financial products, capital

market techniques, and merger and acquisition strategies. 

As intercompany collaborative efforts continue to

develop and grow, GATX Structured and Diversified

Finance will have a broader and more important role in

assisting other parts of GATX with asset management

and transaction structuring. In this role, GATX

Structured and Diversified Finance acts as a catalyst for

finding new and innovative ways to maximize GATX’s

equity by tying different operating companies together to

optimize capital, add value to customers, and generate

new profitable business avenues.
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GATX SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

G
ATX Terminals is one of the world’s largest inde-

pendent providers of bulk liquid storage and dis-

tribution. GATX Terminals offers its customers a

vast network of bulk liquid storage and pipeline

distribution services. GATX Terminals is addressing a

challenging marketplace and is benefiting as a result of

recent initiatives and its restructuring program.

GATX Terminals’ restructuring program began in

1997 and has acted as a catalyst for improvement after the

difficult market conditions of 1996. A key component of

the restructuring program was to rationalize certain ter-

minals. In 1998, GATX Terminals sold its terminal in

Vancouver, Wash., and the sales of the majority of its

United Kingdom terminals and its Port Everglades, Fla.,

terminal were completed in February of 1999. The termi-

nal located on Staten Island, N.Y., is also slated to be

closed in 1999. GATX Terminals has strategically posi-

tioned itself as a key component of its customers’ supply

chains and distribution networks around the world. 

GATX Terminals is the largest
independent bulk liquid storage
and distribution company in
North America. Having identi-
fied strategic worldwide oppor-
tunities, GATX Terminals is
expanding its value-adding oper-
ational, technology, and man-
agement services to its chemical
and petroleum customers.
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GATX Terminals has continued to leverage its

“Terminal within a Terminal” concept. As an example,

in 1998, GATX Terminals partnered with Union

Carbide to develop a dedicated facility within GATX

Terminals’ Carteret, NJ, facility to meet Union

Carbide’s storage and distribution needs on the East

Coast. Union Carbide provided the financial support

for capital outlays for the project, while GATX

Terminals manages all services related to the facility. 

The end result is improved efficiency and market posi-

tion for Union Carbide and the inclusion of GATX

Terminals as a strategic partner for the long term.

GATX Terminals also operates two high volume

pipelines that serve high growth areas. One runs

between the Port of Los Angeles and Las Vegas; the

other operates between Tampa and Orlando. Both

pipelines play a critical role in distributing refined

petroleum products to two of the fastest growing 

cities in the United States.

GATX Terminals has capitalized on international

opportunities in Europe and in key Asian markets.

Around the world, local chemical and petroleum compa-

nies are anxious for the opportunity to partner with a

reputable, global storage and distribution partner like

GATX Terminals. GATX Terminals is well positioned to

provide creative global storage and distribution solutions.

With the benefits of the restructuring program coming

to fruition, GATX Terminals is poised for continued

growth in domestic and international markets while play-

ing an increasingly significant role in adding value to its

customers’ supply and distribution chains.

GATX LIQUID LOGISTICS GATX Liquid Logistics is

the natural outgrowth of a number of GATX’s core

strengths: logistics management, transportation and stor-

age of liquid products, and the ability to monitor and

manage complete supply chains. Few, if any, other com-

panies have the unique skill set necessary to provide com-

plete chemical supply chain management.
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GATX Liquid Logistics focuses on identifying prob-
lems and developing solutions. Liquid Logistics uses
GATX’s extensive industry and logistics knowledge to
assist our customers to increase efficiency and pro-
ductivity in the storage and movement of chemical
products. Liquid Logistics focuses on combining infra-
structure and technology to maximize the information
flow to our customers while at the same time minimiz-
ing the amount of capital a customer needs to invest
in holding inventory stocks.

GATX Distribution Of Assets
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GATX Liquid Logistics implements new technologies

and business concepts, working in concert with other

GATX operating companies, to manage the entire bulk

chemical supply chain for customers. An entire supply

chain may include delivering, on a continuous basis, liq-

uid chemical raw materials, intermediate storage of bulk

materials, management of transportation, inventory opti-

mization, material handling services, and delivery of fin-

ished goods to market.

Liquid Logistics can provide a complete outsourcing of

a chemical supply chain—or a progressive approach begin-

ning with a sophisticated and secure technology to remotely

replenish bulk inventories using the internet. Using the

internet, GATX Inventory Monitoring Services provides

chemical companies with the ability to optimize inventories

(either in-bound raw materials or outbound finished goods

to customers) and transportation costs by providing moni-

toring of all measures associated with a stored chemical

including temperature, pressure, and volume.
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GATX SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

Check GATX’s Internet site to
find out how much inventory 
is in a tank situated across 
the country. Capitalizing 
on its 100 year reputation for
high quality, environmentally-
sound, reliable service, GATX 
is offering customers complete 
supply chain and vendor man-
aged inventory services for 
both liquid and dry products.

GATX LOGISTICS GATX Logistics has developed

value-adding services and technologies and has built crit-

ical mass to firmly position itself as an industry leader in

integrated contract logistics. GATX Logistics has signifi-

cantly altered its focus to meet customer needs for inte-

grated services. The business has shifted strategically

from warehousing to integrated contract logistics. 

The development of information technology that

monitors and controls distribution systems for cus-

tomers will help drive GATX Logistics into the next

century. The result of technological upgrades has been

improved customer satisfaction and retention that has

led to gaining a greater share of the customers’ supply

chain requirements on a longer-term basis.

In April, GATX Logistics became the sole source 

for integrated logistics services for the Curtice Burns

business unit of Agrilink Foods. Since then, GATX

Logistics has been providing freight management, pack-

aging and labeling services, and distribution support for

work-in-process and finished goods to and from Curtice

Burns’ production facilities located in and around Coloma,

Mich. In addition to providing logistics services, GATX

Logistics was able to develop a real estate financing solu-

tion for Agrilink. Other contracts that were renewed,

expanded, or initiated in 1998 include Case, Ingersoll-

Rand/Melroe Company, Kellogg’s, Mitsubishi Motor

Manufacturing and Thomson Consumer Electronics.

Looking to grow throughout the Americas, as well as

in targeted industries such as automotive, consumer elec-

tronics and computers, consumer durables and packaged

goods, GATX Logistics has evolved from a narrowly-

focused warehousing company to a state-of-the-art inte-

grated logistics company. 

In addition, GATX Logistics’ joint venture with

Lockheed Martin, called Paxis, to capitalize on reduced

U.S. Postal service rates for business-to-residential deliv-

eries has tremendous growth potential, with virtually no

equity investment by GATX.

GATX Logistics optimizes the movement of its cus-
tomers’ raw materials and products through the
manufacturing and distribution process. GATX
Logistics provides integrated logistics services to a
wide range of industries providing in-bound materi-
als management, assembly operations, value-adding
processing and distribution support. Paxis, a joint
venture between GATX Logistics and Lockheed
Martin, helps customers optimize U.S. Postal Service
shipping discounts for parcels.
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G
ATX has developed a unique niche for marine-

related operations and financial transactions

through American Steamship Company and

GATX Capital. American Steamship Com-

pany operates a fleet of Great Lakes vessels, while

GATX Capital provides marine asset financing, leas-

ing, and management.

AMERICAN STEAMSHIP COMPANY American

Steamship Company operates 11 state-of-the-art, self-

unloading vessels on the Great Lakes that transport 

coal, iron ore, and limestone. Vessels range in size from

635 to 1,000 feet and are capable of transporting cargoes

from 17,000 to 70,000 net tons and can self-discharge at

speeds up to 10,000 tons per hour. Because American

Steamship’s vessels operate in fresh water, they have very

long lives and require minimal amounts of maintenance.

American Steamship is able to perform multiple port

single trip loading, multiple port discharges, blended

cargo discharges and multiple commodity single trip

GATX MARINE

deliveries. American Steamship Company will soon operate

a 34,000 deadweight ton tug barge on the East Coast and 

in the Gulf of Mexico.

American Steamship’s customer base is consistent and

highly concentrated among a small number of steel pro-

ducers, limestone quarries, and electric utilities. American

Steamship’s “preferred” supplier status to these compa-

nies provides a competitive advantage and indicates the

high levels of services provided.

With the largest capacity fleet of vessels on the Great

Lakes, American Steamship is one of the key components

of transportation for one of the nation’s most critical

manufacturing areas. The Midwest accounts for over 70

percent of all U.S. integrated steelmaking capacity and

about 50 percent of all automobile production.

Helped by favorable weather conditions early in 1998,

American Steamship delivered another strong year, trans-

porting over 25 million net tons of cargo. However, the steel

industry crisis resulting from the sale of low-cost foreign

In addition to operating the pre-
mier fleet of vessels on the U.S.
Great Lakes, GATX provides
leasing, management, and oper-
ational services for ships, barges,
tugs, and tow boats. The Great
Lakes fleet of self-unloading
vessels primarily serves the steel
and power generation industries.
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American Steamship’s fleet of 11 self-unloading ves-
sels primarily serves the steel and power generation
industries around the Great Lakes. Vessels of the size
shown carry enough iron ore in a single load to make
18,000 automobiles. The boom on the deck is slightly
shorter than a football field, and unloads the vessels
at shore-based rates up to 10,000 tons per hour with-
out the use of any shore-based unloading equipment.

steel in domestic markets had an adverse effect in the

fourth quarter and may carry into 1999. Nevertheless,

American Steamship held its market share, by carrying 22

percent of all U.S. tonnage on the Great Lakes last year. 

MARINE ASSET FINANCING GATX Capital continues

to expand its marine asset financing business by focusing

on the inland and coastal tug and barge markets as well

as selected ocean-going vessels in conjunction with part-

ners. The marine operating knowledge that resides in

GATX Capital and is available from American Steam-

ship has permitted GATX Capital to structure inno-

vative asset risk sharing arrangements. In 1998, GATX

Capital partnered with a large U.S. grain company to

order 75 grain barges. These barges were contributed to

a pool operated by a management company owned in

part by the partner. This structure allowed the grain

company to share the risks of ordering and deploying

new equipment with GATX Capital, while maintaining

access to the barges on an “as needed” basis.
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS The following summary describes GATX’s current business segments:

RAILCAR LEASING AND MANAGEMENT represents General American Transportation Corporation
and its foreign subsidiaries and affiliates (General American), which lease and manage tank cars and
other specialized railcars.

FINANCIAL SERVICES represents GATX Capital Corporation and its subsidiaries and affiliates
(Capital), which arrange and service the financing of equipment and other capital assets on a world-
wide basis.

TERMINALS AND PIPELINES represents GATX Terminals Corporation and its domestic and foreign
subsidiaries and affiliates (Terminals), which own and operate tank storage terminals, pipelines and
related facilities.

LOGISTICS AND WAREHOUSING represents GATX Logistics, Inc. (Logistics), which provides distri-
bution and logistics support services and warehousing facilities throughout North America.

GREAT LAKES SHIPPING represents American Steamship Company (ASC), which operates self-
unloading vessels on the Great Lakes.

GATX REVIEW OF FINANCIAL OPERATIONS
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS: The management of GATX Corporation has prepared the accompany-
ing consolidated financial statements and related information included in this 1998 Annual
Report to Shareholders and has the primary responsibility for the integrity of this information.
The financial statements have been prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles and necessarily include certain amounts which are based on estimates and informed
judgments of management.

The financial statements have been audited by the company’s independent auditors, whose report
thereon appears on this page. Their role is to form an independent opinion as to the fairness with
which such statements present the financial position of the company and the results of its operations.

GATX maintains a system of internal accounting controls which is designed to provide reasonable
assurance as to the reliability of its financial records and the protection of its shareholders’ assets.
The concept of reasonable assurance is based on the recognition that the cost of a system of internal
control should not exceed the related benefits. Management believes the company’s system pro-
vides this appropriate balance in all material respects.

GATX’s system of internal controls is further augmented by an audit committee composed of
directors who are not officers or employees of GATX, which meets regularly throughout the year
with management, the independent auditors and the internal auditors; an internal audit program
that includes prompt, responsive action by management; and the annual audit of the company’s
financial statements by independent auditors. 

Ronald H. Zech David M. Edwards Ralph L. O’Hara
Chairman, President and Senior Vice President Controller and 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Chief Accounting Officer

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS AND BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF GATX CORPORATION: We have audited
the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of GATX Corporation and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in
shareholders’ equity, comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 1998. These financial statements are the responsibility of the company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our
audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those stan-
dards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reason-
able basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of GATX Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998
and 1997, and the results of their operations and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 1998, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

Chicago, Illinois
January 26, 1999 ERNST & YOUNG LLP

REPORT OF GATX MANAGEMENT
REPORT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
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GATX reported record net income of $132 million or $2.62 per share, on a diluted basis, for the
year ended December 31, 1998 compared to a net loss of $51 million or $1.28 per share for 1997.
Basic earnings per share was $2.68 compared to a per share loss of $1.28 for 1997. 

During 1997, strategic decisions resulted in an after-tax restructuring charge of $163 million. Before
the effects of the restructuring charge, operating income was $112 million with earnings per share
on a diluted and basic basis of $2.25 and $2.34, respectively. The increase in 1998 operating income
was principally due to record earnings at General American and Capital, improved conditions in
the markets served by Terminals, and the benefit of last year’s restructuring. Return on equity was
19.0% in 1998, up from 14.0% in 1997 prior to the effects of the restructuring charge. 

The comparative performance for 1997 versus 1996 is discussed in the prior year’s management 
discussion on pages 64-66 of this report.

RAILCAR LEASING AND MANAGEMENT’S gross income of $515 million increased 8% from 1997,
with an average of over 5,000 more railcars on lease throughout North America. Average rental
rates in 1998 were also slightly higher. At year end 1998, there were 81,600 railcars on lease, repre-
senting 95% utilization of the total North American fleet of 85,700 cars. Utilization at the end of
1997 was almost 96%, with 77,700 cars on lease. 

General American’s share of its two European affiliates’ earnings was $2.5 million in 1998 com-
pared to $.9 million last year. The increase is primarily due to holding one of the affiliates for an
entire year as General American’s interest was acquired in the fourth quarter of 1997. 

Based on the revenues generated by the growing fleet, net income increased 7% to a record $67.1
million. Repair costs increased $8 million to support a larger fleet, but as a percentage of revenue
were consistent with 1997. Selling, general, and administrative expense increased, primarily to sup-
port a major information systems initiative. Though the fleet grew substantially, depreciation and
interest did not change appreciably from last year, primarily because of General American’s contin-
ued use of sale-leaseback financing. In 1998, $208 million of railcars were sold and leased back, and
the resultant asset ownership costs are included in operating lease expense. 

FINANCIAL SERVICES GATX Capital’s gross income of $597 million increased $13 million from
1997. Higher lease, interest, and asset remarketing income were offset in part by a significant
decrease in technology equipment sales. Lease income was $22 million higher predominantly due 
to the growing leasing technology portfolio. Interest income increased $11 million, as market
opportunities resulted in Capital extending $162 million in new loans in 1998. Asset remarketing
income of $92 million exceeded last year’s record $83 million. Asset remarketing, which does not
fall evenly from period to period, includes both gains from the sale of assets out of Capital’s own
portfolio as well as residual sharing fees from the sale of managed assets. The largest gain in 1998
resulted from the sale of rail assets. While technology investing and leasing continued to grow,
value-added reselling (VAR) sales of technology equipment in the U.S. and Europe experienced 
difficulties; sales of technology equipment decreased $31 million from last year. 

During 1998, Capital continued to emphasize its strategy of joining with partners to finance and
manage assets. Capital’s share of earnings in such joint ventures was $27.9 million in 1998, a 64%
increase over last year. Most of the increase was attributable to the joint venture formed with Pitney

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
1998 COMPARED TO 1997
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Bowes at the end of 1997. A number of new joint ventures were formed in 1998, including GATX
Flightlease Ltd. (aircraft), Rolls-Royce and Partners Finance Ltd. (aircraft engines), and GATX
Telecom Investors (telecommunications). Capital also made incremental investments in several
existing joint ventures to acquire additional aircraft. 

Net income for 1998 was a record $59.3 million, exceeding last year by 11%. The record earnings
were achieved despite absorbing a $6 million goodwill write-down related to the VAR sector due to
the market difficulties facing the business.

Capital’s allowance for possible losses increased by $7 million to $129 million, representing 6.3% of
net investments, up from 5.8% at the end of 1997. The loss provision for 1998 was consistent with
last year.

Compared to the end of last year, the asset mix of Capital’s $2.4 billion portfolio at the end of 1998
showed a higher percentage of technology leasing equipment and a lower percentage of rail assets.
Over $300 million was added to the technology leasing portfolio and approximately $170 million 
of rail assets were sold. 

TERMINALS AND PIPELINES Terminals’ gross income of $290 million decreased $2 million from 1997,
primarily due to the sale of the Norco, Louisiana site in 1997. For both petroleum and chemical cus-
tomers, demand at Terminals’ U.S. facilities was stronger in 1998 resulting in improved revenues.
Petroleum pricing in the futures market provided incentive to store product, while a favorable U.S.
economy kept demand for chemical storage at a relatively high level. 

During 1997, Terminals identified certain non-strategic locations and recorded a $123.8 million
after-tax charge for the sale or closure of those and other impaired facilities. Three domestic and six
terminals in the United Kingdom have been sold as of early 1999. One other domestic and a United
Kingdom terminal are slated for sale or closure in 1999. On a continuing site basis, throughput and
capacity utilization were 587 million barrels and 94% in 1998 compared to 560 million barrels and
93% in 1997. 

Terminals’ joint ventures, which primarily serve the European and Asian markets, contributed 
$13 million in earnings in 1998. Results in 1998 were hampered by unfavorable foreign exchange 
of approximately $1 million compared to 1997, but overall were comparable to last year. In Asia,
the financial crisis and economic downturn appear to have bottomed out, though difficulties may
continue to some degree for at least the first half of 1999.

Net income of $19.5 million for 1998 increased significantly from last year’s operating earnings of
$8.1 million (before the $123.8 million after-tax restructuring charge), based primarily on improving
market conditions and benefits from the restructuring. Selling, general, and administrative costs
were essentially constant with the year ago period. Proceeds from the sale of Norco and other
assets were used to pay down debt, and interest expense accordingly decreased $4 million from
1997. Depreciation expense was almost $14 million lower, in large part due to the asset write-downs
taken as part of the 1997 restructuring.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
1998 COMPARED TO 1997 (CONTINUED)
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LOGISTICS AND WAREHOUSING Logistics’ gross income of $273 million increased 6% due to the
addition of major customers and increased business with existing customers. Lost customers and
slower production periods by certain customers partially offset this increase. Total warehouse
capacity was 23 million square feet and 21 million square feet in 1998 and 1997, respectively. 
Space utilization of 95% in 1998 was comparable to the prior year. 

Logistics’ net income was $1.0 million in 1998 compared to a net loss in 1997 of $37.4 million,
which included the effects of a $39.0 million after-tax charge for the write-down of goodwill. Logis-
tics’ income decreased $.6 million in 1998 from 1997 results before the special charge, reflecting a 
$3 million receivable writeoff from a customer that ceased operations, customer turnover, and
lower volume with certain customers. Logistics’ 1998 results reflect lower selling, general and
administrative costs and lower goodwill amortization resulting from the 1997 write-down.

GREAT LAKES SHIPPING Gross income in 1998 was $87 million, a 5% decrease from last year
largely due to a 1997 gain related to the remarketing of a third party vessel and less tonnage carried
in the current year. Tonnage carried in 1998 was 25.3 million tons, 4% lower than the 26.4 million
tons carried in 1997, due to the decline in the domestic steel industry in the latter part of the year.
Lower domestic steel production caused by the high level of imported steel reduced the demand for
iron ore transportation. Total tonnage of coal transported also decreased as unseasonably warm
weather caused inventory levels for large domestic utilities to remain high. Revenue per ton was
comparable with the prior year. 

Net income was $7.2 million in 1998 compared to $7.9 million 1997, which included a $1.3 million
remarketing gain. Excluding the remarketing gain, net income in 1998 increased 9% despite the
lower tonnage. The increase is attributable to favorable weather conditions, operating efficiencies
and higher vessel utilization, partially offset by business development costs. Contribution margin
per ton was 10% greater than the prior year due to operating efficiencies.

The environment on the Great Lakes remained competitive, with the demand for vessel capacity
stable in 1998. ASC carried an estimated 22% of the total U.S. flag Great Lakes tonnage, similar to
1997. Total U.S. flag tonnage was 117 million tons in 1998 compared to 118 million tons in 1997.
Iron ore cargoes represented 42% of ASC’s tonnage versus 43% in 1997. Coal cargoes represented
25% of ASC’s tonnage, up from 24% last year. It is anticipated that the Great Lakes environment
will be negatively impacted in 1999 by the crisis resulting from the sale of low-cost foreign steel in
domestic markets and consequent excess vessel capacity on the Great Lakes. 

CORPORATE AND OTHER Corporate and Other net expense of $20.7 million was comparable to the
prior year. A decrease in interest expense was offset by an increase in selling, general and adminis-
trative expenses, including the costs to develop the Liquid Logistics initiative.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
1998 COMPARED TO 1997 (CONTINUED)
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GATX provides services to a variety of markets through five principal business segments. The financial
data presented on this and the following page conform to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, and depict the profitability,
financial position, and cash flow of each of GATX’s business segments.

Segment profitability is presented to reflect operating results inclusive of allocated support expenses from
the parent company and interest costs based upon the debt levels shown below. Certain amounts have
been reclassified (as compared to prior reported GATX segments) to conform with management’s assess-
ment of results for each operation. Most notably, the financing effects considered non-operational to the
Railcar Leasing and Management segment have been reclassified to the Corporate and Other segment. As a
result of eliminating the non-operating financial components, management is able to assess performance
using better return measures, such as return on equity, both across segments and over time. Based on a tar-
geted capital structure for Railcar Leasing and Management, the return on equity trend increased from
20.4% in 1996 to 23.3% in 1998. In certain cases, return on equity is labeled n/m (not meaningful) on the
table to reflect returns that are immaterial, negative, or distorted as a result of the 1997 restructuring charge.

Railcar Terminals Logistics
Leasing and Financial and and Great Lakes Corporate

In Millions Management Services Pipelines Warehousing Shipping and Other Intersegment Total

1998

Profitability

Gross income (expense) $ 514.5 $ 597.1 $290.4 $273.4 $ 87.2 $ 5.2 $ (4.7) $1,763.1

Interest expense (52.9) (114.6) (53.6) (.6) (6.8) (8.0) 1.6 (234.9)

Depreciation and amortization (97.3) (110.8) (41.0) (10.0) (6.4) (1.2) (.8) (267.5)

Income (loss) before taxes and 
share of affiliates’ earnings 105.8 64.0 12.1 3.0 11.3 (31.3) (2.3) 162.6

Share of affiliates’ earnings (loss) 2.5 27.9 13.3 (.1) — — — 43.6

Net income (loss) 67.1 59.3 19.5 1.0 7.2 (20.7) (1.5) 131.9

Return on equity (A) 23.3% 23.1% n/m 1.2% 21.1% n/m n/m 19.0%

Financial Position

Identifiable assets 1,539.9 2,207.2 958.4 144.0 169.1 21.6 (100.9) 4,939.3

Debt 710.4 1,620.9 615.2 7.0 96.5 75.5 (3.9) 3,121.6

Equity 298.3 272.1 117.8 94.7 32.5 (80.2) (2.3) 732.9

Items Affecting Cash Flow

Net cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities 166.1 78.8 84.5 13.8 17.7 (21.8) — 339.1

Portfolio proceeds — 863.5 — — — — (6.4) 857.1

Total cash provided (used) 166.1 942.3 84.5 13.8 17.7 (21.8) (6.4) 1,196.2

Capital additions and 
portfolio investments 384.8 853.0 70.9 7.8 4.8 1.1 (7.7) 1,314.7

(A) Based on average equity for the year.

FINANCIAL DATA OF BUSINESS SEGMENTS
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Railcar Terminals Logistics
Leasing and Financial and and Great Lakes Corporate

In Millions Management Services Pipelines Warehousing Shipping and Other Intersegment Total

1997

Profitability

Gross income (expense) $ 476.9 $ 584.4 $ 292.8 $257.1 $ 91.4 $ .6 $ (1.3) $1,701.9

Interest expense (51.0) (96.8) (57.3) (.2) (7.1) (11.6) 1.6 (222.4)

Depreciation and amortization (98.0) (81.7) (54.7) (10.5) (6.4) (1.0) — (252.3)

Income (loss) before taxes, 
restructuring, and share 
of affiliates’ earnings 98.8 62.3 (7.0) 4.6 12.3 (32.2) (1.3) 137.5 

Share of affiliates’ 
earnings (loss) .9 17.0 13.1 (.1) — — — 30.9 

Operating income (loss) 
before restructuring (B) 62.7 53.6 8.1 1.6 7.9 (21.3) (.7) 111.9 

Net income (loss) 62.7 53.6 (115.7) (37.4) 7.9 (21.3) (.7) (50.9)

Return on equity (A) 22.1% 23.3% n/m n/m 21.9% n/m n/m (7.1)%

Financial Position

Identifiable assets 1,504.5 2,275.8 937.1 112.1 177.2 26.9 (85.8) 4,947.8

Debt 693.8 1,697.2 626.0 1.8 101.7 91.4 — 3,211.9

Equity 278.8 241.9 104.5 78.1 35.8 (82.9) (.8) 655.4

Items Affecting Cash Flow

Net cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities 158.3 57.4 69.2 12.2 19.2 (24.9) — 291.4 

Portfolio proceeds — 458.7 — — — — — 458.7 

Total cash provided (used) 158.3 516.1 69.2 12.2 19.2 (24.9) — 750.1 

Capital additions and 
portfolio investments 336.9 866.3 68.0 4.2 .2 — — 1,275.6

1996

Profitability

Gross income (expense) $ 427.9 $ 337.3 $ 297.6 $267.5 $ 85.2 $ (.8) $ (.3) $1,414.4

Interest expense (45.0) (86.1) (52.9) (.3) (7.5) (12.0) 1.0 (202.8)

Depreciation and amortization (86.8) (45.3) (51.9) (11.1) (6.3) (1.0) — (202.4)

Income (loss) before taxes and
share of affiliates’ earnings 86.8 56.1 3.6 3.8 8.3 (29.7) (.2) 128.7 

Share of affiliates’ earnings 2.9 13.6 11.9 — — — — 28.4 

Net income (loss) 56.6 45.9 13.0 .9 5.4 (19.0) (.1) 102.7 

Return on equity (A) 20.4% 22.4% 5.3% .7% 14.5% n/m n/m 13.8%

Financial Position

Identifiable assets 1,452.2 1,808.9 1,195.7 164.7 179.6 33.0 (83.9) 4,750.2

Debt 631.3 1,293.0 724.0 1.9 108.0 149.7 — 2,907.9

Equity 288.2 218.7 240.7 132.5 36.4 (141.5) (.1) 774.9

Items Affecting Cash Flow

Net cash provided by (used in) 
operating activities 161.6 102.2 54.4 17.2 7.1 (45.0) — 297.5 

Portfolio proceeds — 354.8 — — — — — 354.8

Total cash provided (used) 161.6 457.0 54.4 17.2 7.1 (45.0) — 652.3

Capital additions and 
portfolio investments 386.8 659.3 129.5 6.6 .8 1.8 — 1,184.8

(A) Based on average equity for the year. In 1997, consolidated return on equity, based on operating income, was 14.0%.

(B) Pretax income excludes a $224.8 million charge for restructuring with $185.8 million related to Terminals and Pipelines and $39.0 million pertaining to
Logistics and Warehousing. The after-tax impacts were $162.8 million, $123.8 million, and $39.0 million, respectively.

FINANCIAL DATA OF BUSINESS SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)
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In Millions, Except Per Share Data/Year Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

GROSS INCOME $1,763.1 $1,701.9 $1,414.4
COSTS AND EXPENSES

Operating expenses 838.0 840.3 689.2
Interest 234.9 222.4 202.8
Provision for depreciation and amortization 267.5 252.3 202.4
Provision for possible losses 14.7 11.1 12.5
Selling, general and administrative 245.4 238.3 178.8
Provision for restructuring – 224.8 –

1,600.5 1,789.2 1,285.7

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE INCOME TAXES AND SHARE

OF AFFILIATES’ EARNINGS 162.6 (87.3) 128.7
INCOME TAXES (BENEFIT) 74.3 (5.5) 54.4

INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE SHARE OF AFFILIATES’ EARNINGS 88.3 (81.8) 74.3
SHARE OF AFFILIATES’ EARNINGS 43.6 30.9 28.4

NET INCOME (LOSS) $ 131.9 $ (50.9) $ 102.7

PER SHARE DATA

Basic:
Net Income (Loss) $ 2.68 $ (1.28) $ 2.22
Average Number of Common Shares (in thousands) 49,178 45,084) 40,379

Diluted:
Net Income (Loss) 2.62 (1.28) 2.10
Average Number of Common Shares and Common

Share Equivalents (in thousands) 50,426 45,084) 48,924
Dividends paid:

Common 1.00 .92) .86
$3.875 Cumulative Preferred – 1.9375) 3.875

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
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OVERVIEW: The comparison of 1998 to 1997 results is heavily influenced by the $163 million after-
tax restructuring charge taken last year. 

GROSS INCOME of $1.8 billion in 1998 increased $61 million or 4% over last year. General Ameri-
can’s revenues increased $38 million, with an average of over 5,000 more cars on lease in North
America than in 1997. Logistics added several new large customers in 1998 and expanded business
with key existing customers, resulting in revenue growth of $16 million. GATX Capital’s gross
income increased $13 million, with higher lease, interest, and asset remarketing income offset in
part by a $31 million decrease in VAR sales. ASC’s and Terminals’ gross income decreased $4 mil-
lion and $2 million, respectively. ASC carried less tonnage and 1997 revenues included a remarket-
ing gain. Terminals’ decrease included the effect of selling its Norco terminal in 1997. 

OPERATING EXPENSES of $838 million were $2 million lower than last year. Consistent with the
reduction in GATX Capital’s VAR sales, the cost of sales decreased $32 million. General Ameri-
can’s operating expenses increased by $25 million with $8 million related to repairs supporting the
growing railcar fleet and $14 million due to operating lease expense for the ongoing sale-leaseback
of railcars. Logistics’ operating costs increased $16 million. Terminals’ operating expenses were 
$4 million lower primarily due to selling Norco. ASC carried fewer tons and benefited from cer-
tain operating efficiencies, resulting in a $3 million cost reduction. 

INTEREST EXPENSE of $235 million increased almost $13 million. GATX Capital’s average debt bal-
ance during 1998 was $261 million higher than the prior year, resulting in an $18 million increase in
interest expense. Terminals’ interest expense was $4 million lower primarily due to using asset sale
proceeds to pay down debt. 

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION EXPENSE was $15 million more than in 1997. Terminals’
depreciation was $14 million lower, in large part due to the asset write-downs taken as part of the
1997 restructuring. GATX Capital’s depreciation expense was $20 million higher due to the growth
in operating lease investments during 1998. Amortization also was higher, primarily due to a $6
million write-off of goodwill related to the VAR technology business partially offset by less amorti-
zation at Logistics. 

THE PROVISION FOR POSSIBLE LOSSES of $15 million, a $4 million increase over last year, includes
Logistics’ $3 million write-off of a receivable from a customer that ceased operations. 

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES in 1998 included expenditures for employee
costs, information systems, and new business development partially offset by cost control benefits.
SG&A as a percentage of gross income was approximately 14%, comparable with the prior year. 

INCOME TAX EXPENSE of $74 million represented an effective tax rate of approximately 46%,
higher than last year’s 41% (before restructuring charges). Certain expenses in 1998, including the
goodwill write-down for the VAR technology business, were not deductible for tax purposes. 

SHARE OF AFFILIATES’ EARNINGS grew by 41% over 1997. The majority of the increase was attrib-
utable to PBG Capital, a joint venture formed late in 1997 between GATX Capital and Pitney
Bowes, and a full year of affiliate earnings from KVG, a German-based railcar joint venture
acquired in 1997. 

CONSOLIDATED EARNINGS of $132 million, an increase of $20 million from last year (before
restructuring charges), were driven by record earnings at GATX Capital and General American,
and sharply higher results at Terminals. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF OPERATIONS
1998 COMPARED TO 1997
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In Millions/December 31 1998 1997

ASSETS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ 94.5 $ 77.8
RECEIVABLES

Trade accounts 156.2 161.9
Finance leases 676.0 877.0
Secured loans 241.6 180.3
Less–Allowance for possible losses (135.9) (128.5)

937.9 1,090.7
OPERATING LEASE ASSETS AND FACILITIES

Railcars and service facilities 2,567.1 2,501.7
Tank storage terminals and pipelines 1,168.2 1,128.9
Great Lakes vessels 204.2 199.4
Operating lease investments and other 770.2 704.4

4,709.7 4,534.4
Less–Allowance for depreciation (1,919.6) (1,823.9)

2,790.1 2,710.5
INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES 715.3 707.4
OTHER ASSETS 401.5 361.4

$ 4,939.3 $ 4,947.8

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED ITEMS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE $ 353.0 $ 354.7
ACCRUED EXPENSES 54.1 58.0
DEBT

Short-term 299.9 370.2
Long-term:

Recourse 2,171.3 2,221.4
Nonrecourse 451.9 408.2

Capital lease obligations 198.5 212.1
3,121.6 3,211.9

DEFERRED INCOME TAXES 325.1 297.6
OTHER DEFERRED ITEMS 352.6 370.2

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND DEFERRED ITEMS 4,206.4 4,292.4
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Preferred stock – –
Common stock 34.3 34.1
Additional capital 331.6 322.6
Reinvested earnings 446.0 363.4
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (32.2) (17.9)

779.7 702.2
Less–Cost of common shares in treasury (46.8) (46.8)

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 732.9 655.4
$ 4,939.3 $ 4,947.8

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
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OVERVIEW: Total assets were $4.9 billion and approximated the balance at the end of 1997. While
there were record portfolio investments and capital additions during 1998, these were more than
offset by significant asset reductions, including $268 million of depreciation and amortization, the
sale-leaseback of $231 million of railcars, portfolio proceeds from repayments of portfolio loans
and leases, and from asset remarketing. 

In addition to the $4.9 billion of assets on the balance sheet, GATX utilizes over $1 billion of assets,
such as railcars, aircraft, and warehouses, that are financed with operating leases and therefore are
not included on the balance sheet. 

TOTAL RECEIVABLES, including finance leases and secured loans, decreased $145 million mostly due
to activity at GATX Capital. Finance leases decreased $201 million primarily due to the remarket-
ing of rail assets. Several new significant investment opportunities resulted in secured loans increas-
ing by $61 million. 

OPERATING LEASE ASSETS AND FACILITIES of $2.8 billion increased by only $80 million, despite
$1.3 billion of portfolio investments and capital additions made in 1998. Substantially offsetting the
additions were depreciation, the sale-leaseback of railcars at General American and GATX Capital,
and asset remarketing. 

INVESTMENTS IN AFFILIATED COMPANIES of $715 million increased $8 million. Though $147 mil-
lion was invested in GATX’s joint ventures in 1998, and a record $44 million of equity income was
recognized, these additions were largely offset by cash distributions. 

OTHER ASSETS of $402 million increased $41 million since the end of last year, with the largest part
of the increase due to progress payments for aircraft. 

TOTAL DEBT of $3.1 billion decreased $90 million since the end of 1997. Short-term debt and other
recourse debt collectively decreased $134 million. GATX’s use of nonrecourse debt continued to be
emphasized, with that component of debt increasing $44 million. GATX’s cash needs for 1998 were
generally satisfied with internally-generated cash flow from operations, portfolio proceeds, and
sale-leaseback proceeds.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF BALANCE SHEETS
1998 COMPARED TO 1997



38

GATX Corporation and Subsidiaries

In Millions/Year Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income (loss) $ 131.9 $ (50.9) $ 102.7
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash

provided by operating activities:
Realized gains on remarketing of leased equipment (72.9) (74.1) (40.9)
Provision for restructuring, net of tax – 162.8 –
Provision for depreciation and amortization 267.5 252.3 202.4
Provision for possible losses 14.7 11.1 12.5
Deferred income taxes 38.8 18.0 25.2

Net change in trade receivables, inventories,
accounts payable and accrued expenses (13.4) 34.9 30.2

Other (27.5) (62.7) (34.6)

Net cash provided by operating activities 339.1 291.4 297.5

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to operating lease assets and facilities (468.5) (362.0) (436.2)
Additions to equipment on lease, net of 

nonrecourse financing (501.6) (536.4) (376.3)
Secured loans extended (161.6) (35.1) (117.1)
Investments in affiliated companies (147.2) (306.1) (92.8)
Other investments and progress payments (35.8) (36.0) (162.4)

Capital additions and portfolio investments (1,314.7) (1,275.6) (1,184.8)
Portfolio proceeds:

From remarketing of leased equipment 242.0 218.5 100.7
From return of investment 615.1 240.2 254.1

Total portfolio proceeds 857.1 458.7 354.8
Proceeds from other asset sales 261.6 226.9 250.3

Net cash used in investing activities (196.0) (590.0) (579.7)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 360.1 569.9 757.3
Repayment of long-term debt (361.6) (395.2) (283.3)
Net (decrease) increase in short-term debt (69.2) 207.8 (121.1)
Repayment of capital lease obligations (15.4) (15.3) (14.4)
Issuance of common stock under employee 

benefit programs and other 9.0 12.4 3.1
Cash dividends (49.3) (49.4) (48.0)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (126.4) 330.2 293.6

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS $ 16.7 $ 31.6 $ 11.4
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS



44

GATX Corporation and Subsidiaries

Financial data of business segments for 1998, 1997, and 1996 on pages 32 and 33 are an integral part
of the consolidated financial statements of GATX Corporation and subsidiaries.

N O T E  A — S I G N I F I C A N T  A C C O U N T I N G  P O L I C I E S
Significant accounting policies of GATX and its consolidated subsidiaries are discussed below.

CONSOLIDATION—The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of GATX and its
majority-owned subsidiaries. Investments in 20 to 50 percent-owned companies and joint ventures
are accounted for under the equity method and are shown as investments in affiliated companies,
with operating results shown as share of affiliates’ earnings. 

CASH EQUIVALENTS—GATX considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three
months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. 

OPERATING LEASE ASSETS AND FACILITIES—Operating lease assets and facilities are stated princi-
pally at cost. Assets acquired under capital leases are included in operating lease assets and the
related obligations are recorded as liabilities. Provisions for depreciation include the amortization
of the cost of capital leases and are computed by the straight-line method which results in equal
annual depreciation charges over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful lives
of depreciable assets are as follows:

Railcars........................................................................................................................................................................................ 20-38 years
Buildings, leasehold improvements, storage tanks, and pipelines ......................................................................................... 5-40 years
Great Lakes vessels .................................................................................................................................................................... 30-40 years
Machinery and related equipment............................................................................................................................................ 3-25 years
Operating lease investments ..................................................................................................................................................... 3-38 years

GOODWILL—GATX has classified the cost in excess of the fair value of net assets acquired as good-
will. Goodwill, which is included in other assets, is being amortized on a straight-line basis over 
10 to 40 years. GATX continually evaluates the existence of goodwill impairment on the basis of
whether the goodwill is recoverable from projected undiscounted net cash flows of the related busi-
ness, and in that regard adjusted certain carrying amounts in 1997 (as is explained in Note O) and
1998. In 1998, $6.0 million of goodwill related to Capital’s technology equipment sales business was
written off, as that asset was determined to be impaired. Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization
of $37.5 million and $28.5 million, was $116.6 million and $118.7 million as of December 31, 1998
and 1997, respectively. Amortization expense was $13.8 million in 1998, $6.7 million in 1997, and
$5.3 million in 1996. 

INCOME TAXES—United States income taxes have not been provided on the undistributed earnings
of foreign subsidiaries and affiliates which GATX intends to permanently reinvest in these foreign
operations. The cumulative amount of such earnings was $190.9 million at December 31, 1998. 

OTHER DEFERRED ITEMS—Other deferred items include the accrual for postretirement benefits
other than pensions; environmental, general liability and workers’ compensation reserves; 
and other deferred credits.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS—GATX uses interest rate and currency swaps,
forwards and similar contracts to set interest and exchange rates on existing or anticipated transac-
tions. These instruments qualify for hedge accounting. Fair values of GATX’s off-balance sheet
financial instruments (futures, swaps, forwards, options, guarantees, and lending and purchase
commitments) are based on current market prices, settlement values or fees currently charged to
enter into similar agreements. The fair values of the hedge contracts are not recognized in the finan-
cial statements. Net amounts paid or received on such contracts are recognized over the term of the
contract as an adjustment to interest expense or the basis of the hedged financial instrument.

ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES—Expenditures that relate to current or future operations are expensed
or capitalized as appropriate. Expenditures that relate to an existing condition caused by past opera-
tions, and which do not contribute to current or future revenue generation, are charged to environ-
mental reserves. Reserves are recorded in accordance with accounting guidelines to cover work at
identified sites when GATX’s liability for environmental clean-up is both probable and a minimum
estimate of associated costs can be made; adjustments to initial estimates are recorded as necessary. 

REVENUE RECOGNITION—The majority of GATX’s gross income is derived from the rentals of
railcars, commercial aircraft, Great Lakes vessels, and technology equipment as well as terminaling,
warehousing and logistics services. In addition, income is derived from technology equipment sales,
finance leases, asset remarketing, secured loans and other services.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION—The assets and liabilities of GATX operations located out-
side the United States are translated at exchange rates in effect at year end, and income statements
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year. Gains or losses resulting from the transla-
tion of foreign currency financial statements are deferred and recorded as a separate component 
of consolidated shareholders’ equity. The cumulative foreign currency translation loss recorded in
accumulated other comprehensive loss was $(38.8) million and $(22.5) million at the end of 1998
and 1997, respectively.

INVESTMENTS IN EQUITY SECURITIES—Financial Services’ venture leasing portfolio includes stock
and stock warrants held as available-for-sale securities. The unrealized gain on these securities,
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss was $6.6 million and $4.6 million at the end of
1998 and 1997, respectively. 

USE OF ESTIMATES—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles necessarily requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements as well as revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual amounts when ultimately realized could differ from those estimates.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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EARNINGS PER SHARE—Basic and diluted earnings per share are determined in accordance with 
the requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128. Basic EPS is calculated
as net income (loss) available to common shareholders, adjusted for preferred dividends, divided 
by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted EPS is calculated as net
income (loss) divided by the sum of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding
and common stock equivalents. Common stock equivalents include shares issuable upon exercise of
employee stock options (reduced by the number of shares assumed to be repurchased by the option
proceeds) and also assumes all preferred stock has been converted into common shares if the effect
of such conversion is not antidilutive. 

NEW ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS—In 1998, GATX adopted the Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 130, Reporting Comprehensive Income (“SFAS 130”). SFAS 130 estab-
lishes new rules for the reporting and display of comprehensive income and its components; how-
ever, the adoption of this statement had no impact on the company’s net income or shareholders’
equity. Comprehensive income (loss) consists of net income (loss), foreign currency translation
adjustments and changes in unrealized gain (loss) on securities and is presented in the Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss). Prior year consolidated financial statements have
been reclassified to conform with SFAS 130 requirements.

GATX adopted the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 131, Disclosures About Seg-
ments of an Enterprise and Related Information (“SFAS 131”), in 1998 which changes the way the
company reports information about its operating segments. The adoption of SFAS 131 did not affect
consolidated results of operations or financial position, but did affect the disclosure of segment
information. The information for 1997 and 1996 has been restated from the prior years’ presenta-
tion in order to conform with the 1998 presentation. See segment discussion at page 32.

In 1998, the AICPA issued Statement of Position 98-1, Accounting For the Costs of Computer Soft-
ware Developed or Obtained For Internal Use (“SOP 98-1”). SOP 98-1 is effective for financial
statements for years beginning after December 15, 1998 and requires the capitalization of certain
costs incurred after the date of adoption in connection with developing or obtaining software for
internal use. The company currently expenses such costs incurred. Management is currently assess-
ing the impact that the adoption of SOP 98-1 will have on the company’s financial position, results
of operations, and cash flows.

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement No. 133, Accounting for
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities (“SFAS 133”), which is required to be adopted in
years beginning after June 15, 1999. GATX, which utilizes fundamental derivatives to hedge changes
in interest rates and foreign currencies, expects to adopt SFAS 133 effective January 1, 2000. This
new accounting standard will require that all derivatives be recorded on the balance sheet at fair
value. If the derivative is a hedge, depending on the nature of the hedge, changes in the fair value of
derivatives will either be offset against the change in the fair value of the hedged assets, liabilities, or
firm commitments through earnings or recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged
item is recognized in earnings. The ineffective portion of a derivative’s change in fair value will be
immediately recognized in earnings. Management is currently assessing the impact that the adoption
of SFAS 133 will have on the company’s financial position, results of operations, and cash flows. 

RECLASSIFICATIONS—Certain amounts in the 1997 and 1996 financial statements have been reclassi-
fied to conform to the 1998 presentation. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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N O T E  B — A C C O U N T I N G  F O R  L E A S E S
The following information pertains to GATX as a lessor:

FINANCE LEASES—GATX’s finance leases include direct financing leases and leveraged leases.
Financing leases which are financed principally with nonrecourse borrowings at lease inception and
which meet certain criteria are accounted for as leveraged leases. Leveraged lease contracts receiv-
able are stated net of the related nonrecourse debt. The components of the investment in finance
leases were (in millions): 

December 31 1998 1997

Net minimum future lease receivables ............................................................................................................ $ 690.0 $ 773.6
Estimated residual values ................................................................................................................................. 202.5 415.9

892.5 1,189.5
Less–Unearned income .................................................................................................................................... (216.5) (312.5)

Investment in finance leases ............................................................................................................................. $ 676.0 $ 877.0

OPERATING LEASES—The majority of railcar and tank storage assets and certain other equipment
leases included in operating lease assets are accounted for as operating leases.

MINIMUM FUTURE RECEIPTS—Minimum future lease receipts from finance leases and minimum
future rental receipts from noncancelable operating leases by year at December 31, 1998 were (in
millions):

Finance Leases Operating Leases Total

1999 ................................................................................................................................. $ 225.8 $ 737.9 $ 963.7
2000 ................................................................................................................................. 140.0 537.2 677.2
2001 ................................................................................................................................. 93.7 380.6 474.3
2002 ................................................................................................................................. 57.4 262.3 319.7
2003 ................................................................................................................................. 40.9 155.8 196.7
Years thereafter............................................................................................................... 132.2 502.0 634.2

$ 690.0 $2,575.8 $3,265.8

The following information pertains to GATX as a lessee:

CAPITAL LEASES—Assets classified as operating lease assets and finance leases which have been
financed under capital leases were (in millions):

December 31 1998 1997

Railcars............................................................................................................................................................... $ 151.1 $ 152.0
Great Lakes vessels ........................................................................................................................................... 159.5 159.5
Other .................................................................................................................................................................. 1.8 —

312.4 311.5
Less–Allowance for depreciation .................................................................................................................... (183.8) (173.5)

128.6 138.0
Finance leases .................................................................................................................................................... 8.6 9.9

$ 137.2 $ 147.9

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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OPERATING LEASES—GATX has financed railcars, aircraft, warehouses, and other assets through
sale-leasebacks which are accounted for as operating leases. In addition, GATX leases certain other
assets and office facilities. Total rental expense, net of sublease income, for the years ended December
31, 1998, 1997, and 1996 was $198.9 million, $186.5 million, and $170.2 million, respectively. Sublease
income was $3.8 million, $5.1 million, and $6.9 million, in 1998, 1997, and 1996, respectively.

FUTURE MINIMUM RENTAL PAYMENTS—Future minimum rental payments due under noncancelable
leases at December 31, 1998 were (in millions):

Nonrecourse
Operating

Capital Leases Operating Leases Leases

1999 ................................................................................................................................. $ 32.7 $ 153.5 $ 24.0
2000 ................................................................................................................................. 31.8 137.3 27.7
2001 ................................................................................................................................. 30.8 127.0 27.7
2002 ................................................................................................................................. 30.3 128.8 25.2
2003 ................................................................................................................................. 28.3 112.5 28.0
Years thereafter............................................................................................................... 157.5 1,336.3 452.2

$311.4 $1,995.4 $584.8
Less—Amounts representing interest .......................................................................... (112.9)

Present value of future minimum capital lease payments .......................................... $198.5

The above capital lease amounts and certain operating leases do not include the costs of licenses,
taxes, insurance, and maintenance which GATX is required to pay. Future minimum operating lease
payments have not been reduced by aggregate future noncancelable sublease rentals of $2.8 million.
Interest expense on the above capital leases was $16.5 million in 1998, $17.6 million in 1997, and
$19.1 million in 1996. 

The amounts shown as nonrecourse operating leases reflect rental payments of two bankruptcy
remote special purpose corporations which are wholly-owned by GATX. These rentals are consoli-
dated for accounting purposes but do not represent legal obligations of GATX. 

N O T E  C — S E C U R E D  L O A N S
Investments in secured loans are stated at the principal amount outstanding plus accrued interest.
The loans are collateralized by equipment. As of December 31, 1998, secured loan principal due by
year was as follows (in millions):

Loan
Principal

1999....................................................................................................................................................................................................... $ 69.8
2000....................................................................................................................................................................................................... 29.7
2001....................................................................................................................................................................................................... 25.4
2002....................................................................................................................................................................................................... 29.3
2003....................................................................................................................................................................................................... 59.1
Years thereafter .................................................................................................................................................................................... 28.3

$241.6

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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N O T E  D — I N V E S T M E N T S  I N  A F F I L I AT E D  C O M PA N I E S
GATX has investments in 25 to 50 percent-owned companies and joint ventures which are
accounted for using the equity method. These domestic and foreign investments are in businesses
similar to those of GATX’s principal subsidiaries. Distributions received from such affiliates were
$167.5 million, $71.6 million, and $36.4 million in 1998, 1997 and 1996, respectively. These distribu-
tions reflect both operating results and return of principal. 

For all affiliated companies held at the end of a year, operating results, as if GATX held 100 percent
interest, were (in millions):

Year Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Gross income.................................................................................................................. $ 611.9 $ 505.7 $ 360.9
Net income ..................................................................................................................... 102.0 74.4 57.2

For all affiliated companies held at the end of a year, summarized balance sheet data, as if GATX
held 100 percent interest, were (in millions):

December 31 1998 1997

Total assets ...................................................................................................................................................... $ 4,200.7 $ 3,199.1
Long-term liabilities ...................................................................................................................................... 2,056.6 910.3
Other liabilities .............................................................................................................................................. 339.7 607.3

Shareholders’ equity ...................................................................................................................................... $ 1,804.4 $ 1,681.5

N O T E  E — F O R E I G N  O P E R AT I O N S
GATX has a number of investments in subsidiary and affiliated companies which are located in or
derive gross income from foreign countries. Foreign entities contribute significantly to share of
affiliates’ earnings. The foreign identifiable assets represent investments in affiliated companies as
well as fully consolidated assets for a Canadian railcar subsidiary, a Mexican railcar operation, and
foreign lease and loan investments. 

In Millions

Year Ended December 31 
Gross Income 1998 1997 1996

Foreign .......................................................................................................................... $ 219.7 $ 188.8 $ 112.5
United States................................................................................................................. 1,543.4 1,513.1 1,301.9

$ 1,763.1 $ 1,701.9 $ 1,414.4

Year Ended December 31 
Share of Affiliates’ Earnings 1998 1997 1996

Foreign .......................................................................................................................... $ 24.4 $ 21.6 $ 20.3
United States................................................................................................................. 19.2 9.3 8.1

$ 43.6 $ 30.9 $ 28.4

December 31 
Identifiable Assets 1998 1997 1996

Foreign .......................................................................................................................... $ 856.2 $ 848.2 $ 872.4
United States................................................................................................................. 4,083.1 4,099.6 3,877.8

$ 4,939.3 $ 4,947.8 $ 4,750.2

Foreign cash flows generated are used to meet local operating needs and for reinvestment. The trans-
lation of the foreign balance sheets into U.S. dollars results in an unrealized foreign currency transla-
tion adjustment, a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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N O T E  F — S H O R T- T E R M  D E B T  A N D  L I N E S  O F  C R E D I T
Short-term debt (in millions) and its weighted average interest rate as of year end were: 

December 31 – – – – – – – – –1998– – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –1997– – – – – – – – –

Amount Rate Amount Rate

Commercial paper ....................................................................... $ 163.3 6.07% $153.8 6.34%
Other short-term borrowings .................................................... 136.6 6.14% 216.4 6.33%

$ 299.9 $370.2

At December 31, 1998, certain technology assets and facilities with a net carrying value of $49.1
million were pledged as collateral for $24.8 million of other short-term borrowings. 

Under a revolving credit agreement with a group of banks, GATC may borrow up to $350.0 mil-
lion. While at year end no borrowings were outstanding, availability under the line was reduced by
$35.0 million of commercial paper outstanding. GATC also had borrowings of $110.7 million
under unsecured money market lines at December 31, 1998. 

GATX Capital and two of its wholly-owned subsidiaries have commitments under credit agree-
ments with a group of banks for revolving credit loans totaling $397.5 million of which $246.3 mil-
lion was available at December 31, 1998; availability under the line was reduced by $151.2 million
of outstanding commercial paper and other short-term borrowings. 

Both GATC’s and GATX Capital’s primary revolving credit agreements contain various restrictive
covenants, including requirements to maintain a defined minimum net worth and certain financial
ratios. Both GATC and GATX Capital met all credit agreement requirements at December 31, 1998. 

Interest expense on short-term debt was $23.5 million in 1998, $24.0 million in 1997, and $26.2 mil-
lion in 1996.

N O T E  G — L O N G - T E R M  D E B T  
Long-term debt (in millions) and the range of interest rates as of year end were: 

Interest Final December 31 December 31
Rates Maturity 1998 1997

Variable rate:
Term notes ................................................................ 5.46%-6.31% 1999-2003 $ 195.7 $ 67.5
Nonrecourse obligations......................................... 5.38%-7.38% 2000-2002 37.5 44.6

233.2 112.1

Fixed rate:
Term notes ................................................................ 5.56%-10.88% 1999-2012 1,887.7 2,066.0
Nonrecourse obligations......................................... 5.40%- 9.75% 1999-2013 414.4 363.6
Industrial revenue bonds......................................... 6.63%- 7.30% 2019-2024 87.9 87.9

2,390.0 2,517.5

$ 2,623.2 $2,629.6

Maturities of GATX’s long-term debt as of December 31, 1998 for each of the years 1999 through
2003 were (in millions):

Maturities

1999...................................................................................................................................................................................................... $331.1
2000...................................................................................................................................................................................................... 530.4
2001...................................................................................................................................................................................................... 256.5
2002...................................................................................................................................................................................................... 273.7
2003...................................................................................................................................................................................................... 313.6
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At December 31, 1998, certain technology assets, facilities, aircraft, railcars, vessels and warehouse
equipment with a net carrying value of $480.4 million were pledged as collateral for $403.1 million
of notes and bonds.

Interest cost incurred on long-term debt, net of capitalized interest, was $194.9 million in 1998,
$180.8 million in 1997, and $157.5 million in 1996. Interest cost capitalized as part of the cost of
construction of major assets was $3.3 million in 1998, $2.5 million in 1997, and $6.8 million in 1996. 

N O T E  H — O F F - B A L A N C E  S H E E T  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S
In the ordinary course of business, GATX utilizes off-balance sheet financial instruments to man-
age financial market risk, including interest rate and foreign exchange risk. 

At December 31, 1998, GATX had the following off-balance sheet financial instruments (in millions):

Notional Pay Rate/ Receive
Interest Rate Swaps Amount Index Rate/Index Maturity

GATX pays fixed, receives floating ................................. $772.8 4.80-8.75% LIBOR 1999-2003
GATX pays floating, receives fixed ................................. 702.0 LIBOR 5.41-7.65% 1999-2008

Currency Swaps Receive Deliver Maturity

Canadian dollar swaps............................................................................................ $142.6 C$194.8 2001-2011
Deutschemark swap................................................................................................ $ 40.5 72.5DM 2002

GATX had the following interest rate hedge activity (in millions):

Interest Rate Swaps Pay Fixed Pay Floating

Balance at January 1, 1997 ......................................................................................................................... $ 907.9 $1,137.0
Additions..................................................................................................................................................... 44.7 —
Maturities .................................................................................................................................................... (200.0) (447.0)

Balance at December 31, 1997 ................................................................................................................... 752.6 690.0
Additions..................................................................................................................................................... 370.2 30.0
Maturities .................................................................................................................................................... (350.0) (18.0)

Balance at December 31, 1998 ................................................................................................................... $ 772.8 $ 702.0

GATX uses interest rate swaps and forwards to manage its assets and liabilities, to convert floating
rate debt to fixed rate debt (or fixed to floating) and to manage interest rate risk associated with the
anticipated issuance of debt. At GATC, interest rate swaps are utilized to better match the cash
flow characteristics of its debt portfolio and its railcar leases. Railcar assets are financed with long-
term fixed rate debt or through sale-leasebacks. However, the railcar assets are placed on lease with
average new lease terms of five years; the average renewal term is three years. Rents are fixed over
these lease terms. Interest rate swaps effectively convert GATC’s long-term fixed rate debt to fixed
rate debt with maturities of three months to five years. Through the swap program, changes in
GATC’s interest expense are expected to better reflect changes in railcar lease rates. Also, GATX
Capital uses interest rate swaps in addition to commercial paper and floating rate medium-term
notes to match fund its floating rate lease and loan portfolio with floating rate borrowings. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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In its swaps, GATX agrees to exchange, at specific intervals, the difference between fixed and float-
ing rate interest amounts calculated on an agreed upon notional principal amount. The swaps have
in effect converted $772.8 million of long-term fixed rate debt into one to three year fixed rate debt. 

The net amount payable or receivable from the interest rate swap agreements is accrued as an
adjustment to interest expense. The fair value of its interest rate swap agreements is an estimate of
the amount the company would receive or pay to terminate those agreements. At December 31,
1998, GATX would have received $36.6 million if the swaps were terminated; GATX would have
received $14.6 million if the swaps were terminated at December 31, 1997.

GATX has entered into currency swaps to hedge $142.6 million in debt obligations at its Canadian
subsidiaries and $40.5 million in debt obligations associated with a German joint venture. The fair
market value of its currency swap agreements is an estimate of the amount the company would
receive or pay to terminate those agreements. At December 31, 1998, GATX would have received
$23.3 million if the swaps were terminated; GATX would have received $10.9 million if the swaps
were terminated at December 31, 1997.

In the event that a counterparty fails to meet the terms of the interest rate swap agreement or a 
foreign exchange contract, GATX’s exposure is limited to the interest rate or currency differential.
GATX manages the credit risk of counterparties by dealing only with institutions that the com-
pany considers financially sound and by avoiding concentrations of risk with a single counter-
party. GATX considers the risk of nonperformance to be remote. 

N O T E  I — F A I R  VA L U E  O F  O T H E R  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T R U M E N T S
The fair value of a financial instrument represents the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties. The following methods and assumptions
were used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments:

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, accounts payable, and short-
term debt approximates fair value because of the short maturity of those instruments. Also, the car-
rying amount of variable rate long-term debt and variable rate secured loans approximates fair value. 

The fair value of fixed rate secured loans was estimated using discounted cash flow analyses, at
interest rates currently offered for loans with similar terms to borrowers of similar credit quality. 

The fair value of fixed rate long-term debt was estimated by performing a discounted cash flow
calculation using the term and market interest rate for each note based on GATX’s current incre-
mental borrowing rates for similar borrowing arrangements. Portions of fixed rate long-term debt
have effectively been converted to floating rate debt by utilizing interest rate swaps (GATX pays
floating, receives fixed), as described in Note H, Off-Balance Sheet Financial Instruments. In such
instances, the increase (decrease) in the fair value of the fixed rate long-term debt would be offset
in part by the increase (decrease) in the fair value of the interest rate swap. 

The following table sets forth the carrying amounts and fair values of the company’s fixed rate
instruments (in millions): 

December 31 – – – – – – – – –1998– – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – –1997– – – – – – – – –

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

Secured loans-fixed................................................................... $ 222.8 $ 219.5 $ 153.6 $ 157.1
Long-term debt–fixed .............................................................. 2,390.0 2,467.1 2,517.5 2,614.6
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N O T E  J — P E N S I O N  A N D  O T H E R  P O S T R E T I R E M E N T  B E N E F I T S
GATX and certain of its subsidiaries maintain non-contributory defined benefit pension plans cov-
ering their respective employees. Benefits payable under the pension plans are based on years of
service and/or final average salary. The funding policy for the pension plans is based on an actuari-
ally determined cost method allowable under Internal Revenue Service regulations. 

In addition to the pension plans, GATX’s other postretirement plans provide health care, life insur-
ance and other benefits for certain retired employees who meet established criteria. Most domestic
employees are eligible for health care and life insurance benefits if they retire from GATX with
immediate pension benefits under the GATX plan. The plans are either contributory or non-con-
tributory, depending on various factors. 

In 1998, GATX adopted the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 132, Employers’
Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits. While the new standard does not
change the measurement or recognition of costs for pension or other postretirement plans, it does
standardize disclosures and eliminates those that are no longer considered useful. The following
tables, prepared in accordance with the new standard, set forth pension and other postretirement
obligations and plan assets (in millions) as of December 31:

Pension Benefits Retiree Health and Life

1998) 1997) 1998) 1997)

Change in benefit obligation:
Benefit obligation at beginning of period............................................... $ 276.1) $ 255.2) $ 68.8) $ 70.3)
Service cost ................................................................................................ 5.9) 5.8) .5) .5)
Interest cost ............................................................................................... 20.4) 20.0) 4.8) 5.1)
Plan amendments ...................................................................................... (.6) —) —) —)
Actuarial loss/(gain).................................................................................. 24.8) 14.2) (.5) (1.7)
Benefits paid .............................................................................................. (22.0) (21.6) (6.5) (6.8)
Curtailments.............................................................................................. —) (.7) 1.3) 1.4)
Special termination benefits ..................................................................... —) 3.2) —) —)

Benefit obligation at end of period.......................................................... $ 304.6) $ 276.1) $ 68.4) $ 68.8)

Pension Benefits Retiree Health and Life

1998) 1997) 1998) 1997)

Change in fair value of plan assets:
Plan assets at beginning of period ........................................................... $ 299.1) $ 272.0) $ —) $ —)
Actual return on plan assets..................................................................... 44.4) 44.7) —) —)
Company contributions........................................................................... 4.3) 4.0) 6.5) 6.8)
Benefits paid .............................................................................................. (22.0) (21.6) (6.5) (6.8)

Plan assets at end of period ...................................................................... $ 325.8) $ 299.1) $ —) $ —)

Pension Benefits Retiree Health and Life

1998) 1997) 1998) 1997)

Funded status:
Funded status of the plan ......................................................................... $ 21.2) $ 23.0) $(68.4) $(68.8)
Unrecognized net gain ............................................................................. (23.0) (25.7) (12.1) (13.2)
Unrecognized prior service cost.............................................................. 2.1) 3.1) —) —)
Unrecognized net transition (asset) obligation ...................................... (.3) (.3) .5) —)

Prepaid (accrued) cost .............................................................................. $ —) $ .1) $(80.0) $(82.0)

Pension Benefits Retiree Health and Life

1998) 1997) 1998) 1997)

Amount recognized:
Prepaid benefit cost .................................................................................. $ 6.7) $ 6.4) $ —) $ —)
Accrued benefit liability........................................................................... (8.4) (8.0) (80.5) (82.5)
Intangible asset.......................................................................................... 1.7) 1.7) .5) .5)

Total recognized........................................................................................ $ —) $ .1) $(80.0) $(82.0)
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The components of pension and other postretirement benefit costs are as follows (in millions):

Pension Benefits Retiree Health and Life

1998 1997 1996 1998 1997 1996

Service cost....................................................... $ 5.9) $ 5.8) $ 5.5) $ .5) $ .5) $ .5)
Interest cost...................................................... 20.4) 20.0) 18.7) 4.8) 5.1) 5.3)
Expected return on plan assets ...................... (22.6) (21.5) (21.0) —) —) —)
Amortization of:
Unrecognized prior service cost................... .4) .4) .4) —) —) —)
Unrecognized net (gain) loss ........................ .1) .1) —) (.6) (.5) (.5)
Unrecognized net (asset) obligation ............ —) (.1) —) —) —) .1)
Recognized gain due to 

settlement or curtailment ........................... —) (.7) —) —) —) —)
Recognized special termination 

benefits expense........................................... —) 3.2) —) —) 1.1) —)

Net costs........................................................... $ 4.2) $ 7.2) $ 3.6) $ 4.7) $6.2) $5.4)

As permitted by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 87, GATX amortizes the prior
service cost using a straight-line method over the average remaining service period of employees to
receive benefits under the plan. 

Assumptions as of December 31:

Pension Benefits Retiree Health and Life

1998 1997 1998 1997

Discount rate ................................................................................................... 7.00% 7.75% 7.00% 7.75%
Expected return on plan assets ...................................................................... 8.75% 8.75% n/a n/a
Rate of compensation increases..................................................................... 5.00% 5.00% 5.00% 5.00%

The assumed health care cost trend rate was 5.0% for participants over the age of 65 and 6.0% for
participants under the age of 65 for 1998 and thereafter. The health care cost trend rate has a signifi-
cant effect on the other postretirement benefit cost and obligation. A 1% increase in the trend rate
would increase the cost by $.3 million and the obligation by $3.7 million. A 1% decrease in the
trend rate would decrease the cost by $.3 million and the obligation by $3.0 million. 

In addition to contributions to its defined benefit plans, GATX makes contributions to the multi-
employer pension plans of various unions. Further, GATX and its subsidiaries maintain several
401(k) retirement plans which are available to substantially all salaried and certain other employee
groups. GATX may contribute to the plans as defined by their respective terms. The contribution
to such plans were (in millions):

Year Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Contributions to multiemployer pension plans ............................................................. $ .6 $1.8 $2.0
Contributions to 401(k) plans .......................................................................................... 4.2 4.0 3.6
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N O T E  K — I N C O M E  TA X E S
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income
tax purposes. 

Significant components of GATX’s deferred tax liabilities and assets were (in millions):

December 31 1998 1997

Deferred tax liabilities:
Book/tax basis differences due to depreciation ......................................................................................... $357.5 $343.2
Leveraged leases ............................................................................................................................................ 39.0 52.4
Lease accounting (other than leveraged) .................................................................................................... 49.0 44.6
Other ............................................................................................................................................................. 69.1 52.3

Total deferred tax liabilities ..................................................................................................................... 514.6 492.5
Deferred tax assets:

Alternative minimum tax credit .................................................................................................................. 52.8 54.0
Accruals not currently deductible for tax purposes .................................................................................. 48.7 52.5
Allowance for possible losses ...................................................................................................................... 50.7 47.7
Postretirement benefits other than pensions ............................................................................................. 27.1 28.2
Other ............................................................................................................................................................. 10.2 12.5

Total deferred tax assets ........................................................................................................................... 189.5 194.9

Net deferred tax liabilities ....................................................................................................................... $325.1 $297.6

At December 31, 1998, GATX had an alternative minimum tax credit of $52.8 million that can be
carried forward indefinitely to reduce future regular tax liabilities.

GATX and its United States subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax return. Amounts
shown as Current—Federal represent taxes payable as determined by the Alternative Minimum
Tax. Included in 1997’s total deferred tax credit is a $56.5 million deferred tax benefit resulting from
Terminals’ $185.8 million pretax restructuring charge. Income taxes consisted of (in millions):

Year Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Current–
Domestic:

Federal ...................................................................................................................... $ 26.2 $ 28.0 $ 24.4
State and local .......................................................................................................... 3.2 1.1 2.4

29.4 29.1 26.8
Foreign.......................................................................................................................... 6.1 3.9 2.4

35.5 33.0 29.2
Deferred–

Domestic:
Federal ...................................................................................................................... 27.3 (45.6) 18.9
State and local .......................................................................................................... 5.7 .4 4.9

33.0 (45.2) 23.8
Foreign.......................................................................................................................... 5.8 6.7 1.4

38.8 (38.5) 25.2

Income tax expense (benefit) .......................................................................................... $ 74.3 $  (5.5) $ 54.4

Income taxes paid ............................................................................................................ $ 33.7 $ 35.5 $ 33.6
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The reasons for the difference between GATX’s effective income tax rate and the federal statutory
income tax rate were:

Year Ended December 31 1998 1997 1997(A) 1996

Federal statutory income tax rate .................................................. 35.0%) 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
Add (deduct) effect of:

Corporate owned life insurance................................................. (1.3) 2.6 (1.7) (2.0)
State income taxes........................................................................ 3.6) (5.6) 3.6 3.6
1997 restructuring charges.......................................................... —) (19.0) — —
Foreign income............................................................................ 4.5) (2.4) 1.5 1.7
Goodwill amortization ............................................................... 2.6) (2.0) 1.3 1.1
Minority interest ......................................................................... —) (.4) .3 .3
Other ............................................................................................ 1.3) (1.9) 1.1 2.6

Effective income tax rate................................................................. 45.7% 6.3% 41.1% 42.3%

(A) Before restructuring charges

N O T E  L — S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y
The company’s shareholders approved an amendment to GATX’s certificate of incorporation
which increased authorized shares of common stock from 60 million to 120 million shares and
effected a two-for-one stock split, in the form of a stock dividend, effective June 1, 1998. Par value
remained at $.625 per share after the split. All share and per share amounts in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements have been restated accordingly. 

GATX’s certificate of incorporation also authorizes 5 million shares of preferred stock at a par
value of $1.00 per share. Shares of preferred stock issued and outstanding consist of Series A and B
$2.50 cumulative convertible preferred stock, which entitles holders to a cumulative annual cash
dividend of $2.50 per share. Each share of such preferred stock may be called for redemption by
GATX at $63 per share, has a liquidating value of $60 per share, and may be converted into 5 shares
of common stock. 

Holders of $2.50 convertible preferred stock and common stock are entitled to one vote for each
share held. Except in certain instances, all such classes vote together as a single class. 

A total of 4,753,591 shares of common stock were reserved at December 31, 1998, for the following:

Shares

Conversion of outstanding preferred stock ................................................................................................................................ 127,868
Incentive compensation programs............................................................................................................................................... 4,589,023
Employee service awards.............................................................................................................................................................. 36,700

4,753,591

During 1997, GATX called for redemption all the outstanding shares of its $3.875 cumulative con-
vertible preferred stock, each share of which was convertible into 2.2988 shares of common stock.
As a result of the redemption, 3.4 million preferred shares were converted to 7.8 million shares of
common. 

In an effort to ensure the fair value to all shareholders in the event of an unsolicited takeover offer
for the company, GATX adopted a Shareholders’ Rights Plan. Shareholders of record on August
14, 1998 received a distribution of one right for each share of the company’s common stock held.
Initially the rights are represented by GATX’s common stock certificates and are not exercisable.
The rights will be exercisable only if a person acquires or announces a tender offer which would
result in beneficial ownership of 20 percent or more of the company’s common stock. If a person
acquires beneficial ownership of 20 percent or more of the company’s common stock, all holders of
rights other than the acquiring person will be entitled to purchase the company’s common stock at
half price. The rights are scheduled to expire on August 14, 2008. 
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N O T E  M — I N C E N T I V E  C O M P E N S AT I O N  P L A N S
The GATX Corporation 1995 Long Term Incentive Compensation Plan (the 1995 Plan) contains
provisions for the granting of non-qualified stock options, incentive stock options, stock apprecia-
tion rights (SARs), cash and common stock individual performance units (IPUs), restricted stock
rights, restricted common stock and performance awards. An aggregate of 3,000,000 shares of com-
mon stock may be issued under the 1995 Plan. As of December 31, 1998, 943,000 shares are avail-
able for issuance under the 1995 Plan. 

Non-qualified stock options and incentive stock options may be granted for the purchase of com-
mon stock for periods not longer than ten years from the date of grant. The exercise price will be
not less than the higher of market value at date of grant or par value of the common stock. All
options become exercisable commencing on a date no earlier than one year from the date of grant. 

SARs can be issued in conjunction with non-qualified or incentive stock options and entitle the
holder to receive the difference between the option price and fair market value of the common
stock at time of exercise, either in shares of common stock, cash, or a combination of the two at
GATX’s discretion. Exercise of SARs results in cancellation of the underlying options. During
1998, no SARs were issued and none were outstanding. 

IPUs may be granted to key employees and, if predetermined performance goals are met, will be
redeemed in cash and common stock, as applicable, with the redemption value determined in 
part by the fair market value of the common stock as of the date of redemption and in part by 
the extent to which pre-established performance goals have been achieved. A total of 27,442 IPUs
were granted during 1998 and 60,316 IPUs in total were outstanding at the end of the year. In 1998,
there were no payouts to participants in redemption of previously issued IPUs. 

Restricted stock rights may be granted to key employees entitling them to receive a specified num-
ber of shares of restricted common stock. The recipients of restricted common stock are entitled to
all dividends and voting rights, but the shares are not transferable prior to the expiration of a
“restriction period” as determined at the discretion of the Compensation Committee of the Board
of Directors. Performance Awards are granted to employees who have been granted restricted stock
rights or restricted common stock, but these Awards may not exceed the market value of the
restricted common stock when restrictions lapse. The Performance Awards provide cash payments
if certain criteria and earnings goals are met over a predetermined period. During 1998, five grants
totaling 1,800 shares of restricted stock were made. 

Stock options are outstanding under the GATX Corporation 1985 Long Term Incentive Compen-
sation Plan (the 1985 Plan), as amended, but no additional options, stock or awards may be issued
thereunder. 
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Data with respect to both plans, including the range of exercise prices per share for 1998 and 1997,
are set forth below: 

Number of Shares Under Stock Option Plans
1998 1997 Price Per Share

Outstanding at January 1............................................................................... 3,321,300) 3,334,300) $ 9.97-33.47
Granted............................................................................................................ 543,350) 611,000) 33.38-39.72
Exercised ......................................................................................................... (372,849) (564,950) 9.97-33.47
Canceled .......................................................................................................... (103,526) (59,050) 23.78-39.72

Outstanding at December 31......................................................................... 3,388,275) 3,321,300) $ 9.97-39.72

Outstanding at December 31, by year granted:
1988 .............................................................. —) 40,000) $ 12.83
1989 .............................................................. 47,000) 102,200) 14.97
1990 .............................................................. 64,000) 91,000) 9.97
1991 .............................................................. 185,500) 213,300) 14.00
1992 .............................................................. 154,200) 202,300) 12.75
1993 .............................................................. 306,800) 328,300) 18.84
1994 .............................................................. 416,700) 476,400) 20.91
1995 .............................................................. 501,400) 565,300) 23.78-25.28
1996 .............................................................. 639,025) 706,300) 23.16-24.91
1997 .............................................................. 550,300) 596,200) 27.44-33.47
1998 .............................................................. 523,350) —) 33.38-39.72

Total ................................................................................................................. 3,388,275) 3,321,300) $ 9.97-39.72

Options exercisable at December 31 ............................................................ 2,459,525) 2,290,866)

Options available for future grant at December 31..................................... 943,000) 1,384,624)

ACCOUNTING FOR STOCK OPTIONS GATX has elected to follow Accounting Principles Board 
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, in accounting for its employee stock
options. Under these guidelines, no compensation expense is recognized because the exercise price of
GATX’s employee stock options equals the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant. 

Pro forma information regarding net income and earnings per share is required by Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation (SFAS 123),
and has been determined as if GATX had accounted for its employee stock options under the fair
value method. The fair value for these options was estimated at the date of grant using a Black-
Scholes option pricing model with the following assumptions for 1998, 1997 and 1996: dividend
yield of 3.1%, 2.8% and 3.6%, respectively; volatility factor of the expected market price of
GATX’s common stock of .19, .16 and .15, respectively; expected life of the option of six years, four
years and five years, respectively; and weighted average risk-free interest rate of 4.8%, 5.9% and
6.1%, respectively. 

The Black-Scholes model, one of the most frequently referenced models to value options, was
developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options which have no vesting restrictions
and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation models require the input of highly subjec-
tive assumptions, including expected stock price volatility. Because GATX’s employee stock
options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because
changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in manage-
ment’s opinion the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair
value of its employee stock options. 
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For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of the options is amortized to
expense over the option vesting period. The resultant pro forma net income (loss) and earnings
(loss) per share were (in millions except for earnings per share information):

Year Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Pro forma net income (loss) ........................................................................................... $129.8 $(52.2) $101.6
Pro forma earnings (loss) per share:

Basic ............................................................................................................................. $ 2.64 $(1.30) $ 2.19
Diluted ......................................................................................................................... $ 2.57 $(1.30) $ 2.08

Because SFAS 123’s provisions are prospective (retroactive application is prohibited), awards
granted prior to 1995 are not considered in the above pro forma amounts. Additionally, because
options generally are granted late in the year and vest over a three-year period, the pro forma
amounts above do not reflect a full annualized effect.

N O T E  N — C O M M I T M E N T S ,  C O N T I N G E N C I E S  A N D  C O N C E N T R AT I O N S  O F  C R E D I T  R I S K
GATX’s revenues are derived from a wide range of industries and companies. Approximately 20%
of total revenues are generated from the transportation or storage of products for the chemical
industry; for similar services, 18% of revenues are derived from the petroleum industry. The sale
and leasing of technology equipment represents about 17% of total revenues. GATX also provides
services and products to the chemical, petroleum, and technology markets through its affiliates,
which are accounted for under the equity method. In addition, approximately 11% of GATX’s
assets consist of commercial aircraft operated by various domestic and international airlines. 

Under its lease agreements, GATX retains legal ownership of the asset except where such assets
have been financed by sale-leasebacks. With most loan financings, the loan is collateralized by the
equipment. GATX performs credit evaluations prior to approval of a lease or loan contract. Subse-
quently, the creditworthiness of the customer and the value of the collateral are monitored on an
ongoing basis. GATX maintains an allowance for possible losses and other reserves to provide for
potential losses which could arise should customers become unable to discharge their obligations to
GATX and to provide for permanent declines in investment value.

At December 31, 1998, GATX had commitments of $341 million for orders and options by aircraft
joint ventures for interests in 25 new aircraft to be delivered between 1999-2001. GATX also has
other firm commitments totaling $361 million, primarily to acquire railcars and other equipment
and to upgrade terminal and repair facilities. 

GATX has issued $222 million of residual and rental guarantees at December 31, 1998. Guarantees
are commitments issued to guarantee performance of an affiliate to a third party, generally in the
form of lease and loan payment guarantees, or to guarantee the value of an asset at the end of a lease.
Lease and loan payment guarantees generally involve guaranteeing repayment of the financing
required to acquire assets being leased by an affiliate to third parties, and are in lieu of making direct
equity investments in the affiliate. Asset value guarantees represent GATX Capital’s commitment to
a third party that an asset or group of assets will be worth a specified amount at the end of a lease
term. Based on known and expected market conditions, management does not believe that the asset
value guarantees will result in any adverse financial impact to GATX. 
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GATX is also a party to letters of credit and bonds totaling $24 million and $18 million at Decem-
ber 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively. In GATX’s past experience, virtually no claims have been made
against these financial instruments. Management does not expect any material losses to result from
these off-balance-sheet instruments because performance is not expected to be required, and, there-
fore, is of the opinion that the fair value of these instruments is zero. 

GATX and its subsidiaries are engaged in various matters of litigation and have a number of
unresolved claims pending, including proceedings under governmental laws and regulations
related to environmental matters. While the amounts claimed are substantial and the ultimate lia-
bility with respect to such litigation and claims cannot be determined at this time, it is the opin-
ion of management that damages, if any, required to be paid by GATX and its subsidiaries in the
discharge of such liability are not likely to be material to GATX’s consolidated financial position
or results of operations. 

N O T E  O — R E S T R U C T U R I N G  C H A R G E S
During 1997 strategic decisions resulted in a $225 million ($163 million after-tax) restructuring
charge related to Terminals and Logistics. Terminals’ portion of the restructuring charges was based
on the decision to close, sell or revalue certain domestic and foreign terminal locations to reflect
permanent changes in market conditions. The charge primarily represents the write-down of asset
values with minor costs related to closure activities. The charge at Logistics represents the write-
down of goodwill to reflect the impairment of certain acquired facilities. The carrying values of cer-
tain assets at Terminals and Logistics were written down to fair value as described in Note A. 

In Millions Pre-Tax After-Tax

Terminals .......................................................................................................................................................... $185.8 $123.8
Logistics ............................................................................................................................................................ 39.0 39.0

Total .................................................................................................................................................................. $224.8 $162.8

During 1998 and early 1999, Terminals acted upon its restructuring plan by divesting certain
domestic and foreign terminal locations. 
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Operating Basic Net Diluted Net 
Gross Expenses and Net Income Income (Loss) Income (Loss) 

In Millions, Except Per Share Data Income Depreciation (Loss) Per Share (A) Per Share (A)

1998
First Quarter ............................................... $ 408.9 $ 243.5 $ 37.4 $ .76 $ .74
Second Quarter ........................................... 437.6 274.1 30.8 .63 .61
Third Quarter ............................................. 459.5 283.7 38.1 .78 .76
Fourth Quarter........................................... 457.1 290.4 25.6 .52 .51

Total .............................................................. $ 1,763.1 $ 1,091.7 $ 131.9 $ 2.68 $ 2.62

1997
First Quarter................................................. $ 394.6 $ 241.8 $ 31.2 $ .69 $ .63
Second Quarter............................................. 434.7 279.0 30.2 .63 .61
Third Quarter ............................................... 430.9 273.2 28.0 .57 .56
Fourth Quarter............................................. 441.7 291.9 (140.3) (2.87) (2.87)(B)

Total............................................................... $1,701.9 $1,085.9 $ (50.9) $ (1.28) $ (1.28)(B)

(A) Quarterly results may not be additive, as per share amounts are computed independently for each quarter and the full year based on the respective
weighted average common shares and common stock equivalents outstanding. Amounts have been restated to reflect the 2-for-1 stock split in June 1998.

(B) Conversion of preferred stock is excluded from computation of diluted net loss per share because of antidilutive effect.

COMMON STOCK INFORMATION GATX common shares are listed on the New York, Chicago and
London Stock Exchanges under ticker symbol GMT. 

The approximate number of holders of record of common stock as of February 22, 1999 was 3,769.
The following table shows the reported high and low sales price of GATX common shares on 
the New York Stock Exchange, the principal market for GATX shares, and the dividends
declared per share: 

Common Stock Common Stock

High Low High Low

1998 1997
First Quarter ............................... $40.56 $34.00 First Quarter ................................... $25.25 $23.75
Second Quarter ........................... 44.13 38.75 Second Quarter............................... 29.56 24.06
Third Quarter.............................. 47.56 31.69 Third Quarter ................................. 33.88 28.81
Fourth Quarter ........................... 39.00 26.25 Fourth Quarter ............................... 36.69 30.22

Annual Dividends Declared $1.00 Annual Dividends Declared $ .92

CONSOLIDATED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
AND COMMON STOCK INFORMATION
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In Millions, Except Per Share Data/Year Ended or at December 31 1998 1997 (A) 1996 1995 1994

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Gross Income .................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... $1,763.1 $1,701.9) $1,414.4 $1,246.4 $1,155.0
Costs and Expenses .......................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 1,600.5 1,789.2) 1,285.7 1,129.4 1,037.2

Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes and Share of Affiliates’ Earnings ....................................................................................................................................... 162.6 (87.3) 128.7 117.0 117.8
Income Taxes (Benefit) ..................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 74.3 (5.5) 54.4 47.6 48.8

Income (Loss) Before Share of Affiliates’ Earnings....................................................................................................................................................................... 88.3 (81.8) 74.3 69.4 69.0
Share of Affiliates’ Earnings ............................................................................................................................................................................................................ 43.6 30.9) 28.4 31.4 22.5

Net Income (Loss) ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................ $ 131.9 $ (50.9) $ 102.7 $ 100.8 $ 91.5

PER SHARE DATA (B)
Net Income (Loss) Applicable to Common Stock, as Adjusted .................................................................................................................................................. $ 131.8 $ (57.6) $ 89.5 $ 87.6 $ 78.2
Per Share of Common Stock and Common Stock Equivalents:
Net Income (Loss), Basic ................................................................................................................................................................................................................. $ 2.68 $ (1.28) $ 2.22 $ 2.19 $ 1.97

Shares Used in Computation (in thousands).............................................................................................................................................................................. 49,178 45,084) 40,379 40,005 39,685
Per Share Assuming Conversion, Except in 1997,

of All Outstanding Preferred Stock:
Net Income (Loss), Diluted ............................................................................................................................................................................................................ $ 2.62 $ (1.28) $ 2.10 $ 2.07 $ 1.89

Shares Used in Computation (in thousands).............................................................................................................................................................................. 50,426 45,084) 48,924 48,731 48,331
Dividends Declared Per Share of Common Stock......................................................................................................................................................................... $ 1.00 $ .92) $ .86 $ .80 $ .75

FINANCIAL CONDITION

Total Assets........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ $4,939.3 $4,947.8) $4,750.2 $4,042.9 $3,650.7
Total Long-term Debt and Capital Lease Obligations.................................................................................................................................................................. 2,821.7 2,841.7) 2,664.1 2,092.5 1,805.1
Shareholders’ Equity ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 732.9 655.4) 774.9 717.8 662.4
Common Shareholders’ Equity....................................................................................................................................................................................................... 732.1 654.7) 609.2 551.8 496.1
Common Shareholders’ Equity Per Share (B) ............................................................................................................................................................................... 14.84 13.36) 14.79 13.44 12.15
(A) The 1997 restructuring charge was $224.8 million on a pre-tax basis, $162.8 million on an after-tax basis.
(B) Amounts have been restated to reflect the 2-for-1 stock split in June 1998.
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GATX generates significant cash from its operating activities and proceeds from its investment
portfolio which are used to service debt, pay dividends, and fund capital additions and portfolio
investments. Most of the capital requirements are considered discretionary and represent additions
to the railcar fleet, capital equipment investment portfolio, joint ventures, and terminal and pipeline
facilities. As a result, the level of capital spending and investments can be adjusted as conditions in
the economy or GATX’s businesses warrant. 

CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES generated $339 million of cash flow in 1998, a $48 mil-
lion increase from 1997. GATX Capital, Terminals and General American all reported higher cash
flow and Logistics’ and ASC’s cash flows were consistent with the year ago period. To the extent
GATX Capital reports increased gains on asset remarketing or equity in earnings of affiliates, cash
flows from operations will decrease, as Capital’s remarketing proceeds and cash distributions from
affiliates are included in portfolio proceeds. 

CAPITAL ADDITIONS AND PORTFOLIO INVESTMENTS totaled a record $1.3 billion, an increase of 
$39 million from 1997. General American’s capital additions in 1998 were $385 million, including
$366 million for the addition of railcars. In 1997, General American’s additions were $337 million
including $275 million for fleet additions and an investment in a 40% interest in KVG, a German
railcar company. Terminals’ expenditures were comparable to the prior year. 

GATX Capital’s portfolio investments of $853 million were slightly lower than last year’s record 
of $866 million, representing strong market opportunities in the technology leasing and aircraft 
sectors. Capital’s technology leasing operation funded $307 million, a 36% increase over 1997’s 
volume. Late in 1998, Capital acquired a 50% interest in Rolls-Royce and Partners Finance Ltd., 
a lessor of aircraft engines. Including the interest in the Rolls-Royce partnership, Capital invested
$128 million in its aircraft joint ventures in 1998. Capital extended $162 million of loans to various
entities in 1998, which are collateralized by vessels and aircraft. In 1997, GATX Capital acquired a
portfolio of leases from Pitney Bowes for $368 million.

PORTFOLIO PROCEEDS of $857 million increased 87% from 1997 reflecting exceptional activity.
Proceeds from the remarketing of leased equipment, primarily rail and aircraft assets, included both
the return of principal and the gains on the transactions. Proceeds from the return of investment
were $615 million and $240 million for 1998 and 1997, respectively. Included in the portfolio pro-
ceeds amount are loan principal receipts and distributions from joint venture investments.

PROCEEDS FROM OTHER ASSET SALES of $262 million in 1998 included the receipt of $231 million
from the sale-leaseback of railcars at General American and Capital. Asset sale activity included
General American’s sale-leaseback of 3,380 railcars, scrapping of 2,100 cars, and Terminals’ sale of
its Vancouver terminal. In 1997 General American sold and leased back $167 million of railcars and
Terminals sold its Norco, Louisiana facility.

CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES was $126 million compared to cash provided of $330 mil-
lion in 1997. Because of 1998’s substantial portfolio proceeds and cash flow from operations, long-
term debt remained constant and $69 million of short-term debt was paid down.

Common dividends per share were $1.00 in 1998 compared to $.92 in 1997. In January 1999, the
Board of Directors approved a 10% increase in the quarterly dividend to $.275 per common
share, or $1.10 on an annualized basis. This is the fourteenth consecutive year GATX has
increased its dividend.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF CASH FLOWS
1998 COMPARED TO 1997
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES General American Transportation Corporation (GATC) 
and GATX Capital have revolving credit facilities. GATC and GATX Capital also have commer-
cial paper programs and uncommitted money market lines which are used to fund operating 
needs. The GATC revolving credit facility expires in 2003 while GATX Capital’s revolving credit
facility expires in 2001. Under the covenants of the commercial paper programs and rating agency
guidelines, GATC and GATX Capital individually must keep unused revolver credit capacity at
least equal to the amount of commercial paper outstanding. At December 31, 1998, GATX and its
subsidiaries had available unused committed lines of credit amounting to $561.3 million. 

GATC has a $650 million shelf registration for pass through trust certificates and debt securities 
of which $100 million of notes and $106 million of pass through certificates have been issued at 
year end. GATX Capital has a shelf registration for $532 million of which $370 million has been
issued. At year end, GATX had $702 million of commitments to provide financing to customers 
or to acquire assets, $444 million of which is scheduled to fund in 1999. 

At December 31, 1998, approximately $346 million of subsidiary net assets were restricted, limiting
the ability of the subsidiaries to transfer assets to GATX parent in the form of loans, advances or
dividends. The majority of net asset restrictions relate to the revolving credit agreement of GATC
and the various loan agreements of GATX Capital. Such restrictions are not expected to have an
adverse impact on the ability of GATX to meet its cash obligations. 

RISK MANAGEMENT AND MARKET SENSITIVE INSTRUMENTS GATX, like most other companies, is
exposed to certain market risks, including changes in interest rates and currency exchange rates. 
To manage these risks, GATX, pursuant to preestablished and preauthorized policies, enters into
certain derivative transactions, predominantly interest rate swaps. These interest rate swaps and
other derivative instruments are entered into for hedging purposes only; GATX does not hold or
issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. 

GATX’s interest expense is affected by changes in interest rates as a result of its use of variable rate
debt instruments, including commercial paper and other floating rate debt. Based on GATX’s vari-
able rate debt at December 31, 1998, if market rates were to increase by 10% of GATX’s weighted
average floating rate, after-tax interest expense would increase by approximately $2 million in 1999. 

Changes in certain currency exchange rates would affect GATX’s reported earnings. Based on 1998
reported earnings, a uniform and hypothetical 10% strengthening in the U.S. dollar versus those
foreign currencies would decrease after-tax income in 1999 by approximately $2 million. 

The interpretation and analysis of the results from the hypothetical changes to interest rates and
currency exchange rates should not be considered in isolation; such changes would typically have
corresponding offsetting changes. Offsetting effects are present, for example, to the extent that
floating rate debt is associated with floating rate assets. 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF CASH FLOWS
1998 COMPARED TO 1997 (CONTINUED)
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ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS Certain operations of GATX’s subsidiaries (collectively GATX) pre-
sent potential environmental risks principally through the transportation or storage of various 
commodities. Recognizing that some risk to the environment is intrinsic to its operations, GATX 
is committed to protecting the environment as well as complying with applicable environmental
protection laws and regulations. GATX, as well as its competitors, is subject to extensive regula-
tion under federal, state and local environmental laws which have the effect of increasing the 
costs and liabilities associated with the conduct of its operations. In addition, GATX’s foreign 
operations are subject to environmental laws in effect in each respective jurisdiction. 

GATX’s policy is to monitor and actively address environmental concerns in a responsible manner.
GATX has received notices from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) that it is a
potentially responsible party (PRP) for study and clean-up costs at 13 sites under the requirements
of the Federal Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980
(Superfund). Under these Acts and comparable state laws, GATX may be required to share in the
cost to clean-up various contaminated sites identified by the EPA and other agencies. GATX also
has received notice that it is a PRP at one site to undertake a Natural Resource Damage Assessment.
In all instances, GATX is one of a number of financially responsible PRPs and has been identified
as contributing only a small percentage of the contamination at each of the sites. Due to various fac-
tors such as the required level of remediation or restoration and participation in clean-up or restora-
tion efforts by others, GATX’s total clean-up costs at these sites cannot be predicted with certainty;
however, GATX’s best estimates for remediation and restoration of these sites have been deter-
mined and are included in its environmental reserves. 

Future costs of environmental compliance are indeterminable due to unknowns such as the mag-
nitude of possible contamination, the timing and extent of the corrective actions that may be
required, the determination of the company’s liability in proportion to other responsible parties,
and the extent to which such costs are recoverable from third parties including insurers. Also,
GATX may incur additional costs relating to facilities and sites where past operations followed
practices and procedures that were considered acceptable at the time but in the future may require
investigation and/or remedial work to ensure adequate protection to the environment under cur-
rent or future standards. If future laws and regulations contain more stringent requirements than
presently anticipated, expenditures may be higher than the estimates, forecasts, and assessments 
of potential environmental costs provided below. However, these costs are expected to be at least
equal to the current level of expenditures. In addition, GATX has provided indemnities for 
environmental issues to the buyers of three divested companies, and a number of divested terminal
facilities for which GATX believes it has adequate reserves.

GATX’s environmental reserve at the end of 1998 was $74 million and reflects GATX’s best esti-
mate of the cost to remediate known environmental conditions. Additions to the reserve were 
$14 million in 1998 and $11 million in 1997. Expenditures charged to the reserve amounted to 
$12 million and $14 million in 1998 and 1997, respectively. 

In 1998, GATX made capital expenditures of $5 million for environmental and regulatory compli-
ance compared to $13 million in 1997. These projects included marine vapor recovery systems, 
discharge prevention compliance, waste water systems, impervious dikes, tank modifications for
emissions control, and tank car cleaning systems. Environmental projects authorized or planned
would require capital expenditures of approximately $7 million in 1999. GATX anticipates it will
make annual expenditures at approximately the same level over each of the next three years.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
1998 COMPARED TO 1997 (CONTINUED)
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YEAR 2000 READINESS DISCLOSURE GATX continues to address what is commonly referred to 
as the Year 2000 problem. GATX has completed the assessment phase of reviewing its critical 
information systems for Year 2000 compliance. Efforts are well underway in both modifying and
replacing its in-house developed software as well as upgrading its vendor-supported software so that
its computer systems will function properly with respect to dates in the year 2000 and thereafter.
Several remediation projects and systems replacements are already in place, and efforts are continu-
ing on others. Critical projects should be completed by mid-year 1999. Additionally, other less criti-
cal information systems have been reviewed and corrective action is being taken where indicated. 

GATX also is reviewing its operating assets to determine any exposure to time-sensitive controls
which may be embedded in the equipment. These situations are being assessed on an ongoing basis
and replacement or remediation is in process where there is indicated need. 

GATX is inquiring of both customers and vendors where the company’s information systems 
interface directly with third parties to ensure that the interfaces and the third party systems are 
or will be Year 2000 compliant. Where considered appropriate, the company is working directly
with such third parties to test or remediate such systems. The company also interacts electroni-
cally with certain external entities but has no means of ensuring that they will be Year 2000 ready.
Additionally, GATX has been inquiring of key vendors in an effort to establish the ability of the
provider to deliver product or services on a timely basis in the year 2000. 

GATX believes it has an effective program in place to resolve the Year 2000 issue in a timely manner
and to minimize the company’s exposure. If these steps were not taken, or are not completed
timely, the Year 2000 issue could have a significant impact on the operations of the company. The
project is estimated to be completed during 1999, which is prior to any anticipated impact on its
operating systems. Based on the progress and results of the Year 2000 project thus far, GATX
believes that the Year 2000 issue should not pose significant operational problems. However, in the
event that the company’s efforts have not addressed all potential systems problems, contingency
plans are being developed to enable critical business operations to continue. The total Year 2000
project cost is estimated to not exceed $11 million, of which approximately $5 million has been
expensed through 1998. These costs have not and are not expected to have a material adverse impact
on the company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS GATX reported record results for 1998. Many economists
believe that the U.S. economy is entering a recessionary environment, but GATX’s results reported
herein have not been impacted to any significant extent. However, should a recession develop,
GATX’s prospective results would not be immune from the effects thereof if there were significant
changes in demand for its services or assets provided. 

Certain statements in Management’s Discussion and Analysis constitute forward-looking statements
made pursuant to the safe harbor provision of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
This information may involve risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materi-
ally from the forward-looking statements. Although the company believes that the expectations
reflected in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, such statements
are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those
projected. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, unanticipated changes in the
markets served by GATX such as the aircraft, petroleum, chemical, rail, technology and steel industries.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
1998 COMPARED TO 1997 (CONTINUED)
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The following discussion analyzes GATX’s comparative performance for the years ended 
December 31, 1997 and 1996. This information should be read in conjunction with the consoli-
dated financial statements on pages 34, 36, 38 and, 43. The discussion of comparative results of 
GATX’s operations for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997 is presented in the manage-
ment discussion and analysis and the financial data of business segments beginning on page 32. 

GATX reported a net loss of $51 million or $1.28 per share, on a diluted basis, for the year ended
December 31, 1997 compared to net income of $103 million or $2.10 per share for 1996. 

During 1997, strategic decisions resulted in a $163 million after-tax restructuring charge related to
the Terminals and Pipelines and the Logistics and Warehousing segments. The changed market
environment which Terminals serves required aggressive action to revitalize operations and includes
the sale or closure of the Staten Island terminal as well as seven terminals in the United Kingdom.
Other smaller facilities are also being evaluated or are in the process of sale or closing. The after-tax
restructuring charge attributable to Terminals was $124 million. Logistics continued to implement
its strategy of providing integrated logistics solutions while reducing its role in the lower margin,
public warehousing business. To better reflect the economics of this strategic direction, a $39 mil-
lion after-tax charge was taken to write-down the carrying value of goodwill relating to certain past
warehousing acquisitions.

Before the effects of the $163 million after-tax charge, income was $112 million or $2.25 per share
on a diluted basis. These operating earnings reached a record level with four of GATX’s five sub-
sidiaries achieving record results. Based on the $112 million of total earnings, GATX achieved a
return on equity of 14.0%, up slightly from 13.8% in 1996.

RAILCAR LEASING AND MANAGEMENT General American’s gross income of $477 million increased
by $49 million from 1996. The full year effect of the mid-1996 acquisition of the remaining 55%
interest in CGTX accounted for $28 million of the revenue increase with the balance attributable to
a larger U.S. fleet and improved rental rates. Prior to GATX acquiring the remaining interest,
CGTX had been accounted for as an affiliate. Railcar additions continued to be strong in 1997 with
4,800 cars added to the North American fleet, reaching a total of 77,700 cars on lease. With a total
fleet of 81,100 cars, utilization ended the year at 96%, up from 95% at the end of 1996. In addition
to the North American fleet, during 1997 General American purchased a 40% interest in Kessel-
waggon Vermietgesellschaft mbH (KVG), a German and Austrian-based tank car and specialty rail-
car leasing company.

Record net income of $63 million increased by 11% over 1996 reflecting the higher revenues and
the full year impact of CGTX, partially offset by higher repair costs and other operating and asset
ownership expenses. Operating margins improved by 14% as the growth in revenues exceeded the
increase in fleet repair costs and SG&A expenses.

Repair costs increased 7% due to the larger fleet size but decreased as a percentage of revenue from
1996 due in part to the mix of cars and the types of repairs completed. Throughput days, the time it
takes a railcar to be repaired through the General American repair network, remained at the 1996
average of 32 days. Asset ownership costs, consisting of operating lease rents, depreciation, and
interest expense, increased as a result of the growing fleet. General American’s share of earnings of
affiliates declined from 1996 due to the aforementioned change in accounting for CGTX.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
1997 COMPARED TO 1996
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FINANCIAL SERVICES Gross income of $584 million for 1997 increased sharply from 1996 driven by
higher technology equipment sales, lease income, and gains on sale of assets. Of the $247 million or
73% overall increase from last year, $171 million was attributable to technology equipment sales. 
A full year of technology equipment sales was recorded in 1997 whereas 1996 included only two
months. Lease income grew by $50 million, in large part due to a growing technology leasing port-
folio. Gains from asset remarketing in 1997 were at a record level of $69 million, or $33 million
more than last year. Because the timing of such sales is dependent on changing market conditions,
such gains do not occur evenly from period to period. 

Net income for 1997 was a record $54 million, a 17% improvement over last year’s results, with
asset remarketing gains on sale of assets generating much of the increase. Technology sales and leas-
ing revenues were substantially offset by asset ownership and human resource costs necessary to
grow these businesses. Record investment volume of $866 million, including over $200 million for
the technology leasing portfolio, led to depreciation expense increasing by $36 million and interest
expense increasing by $11 million. Included in the investment volume was the $368 million Pitney
Bowes transaction, the largest in GATX Capital’s history. SG&A, which for the first time in 1997
included a full year of results from the equipment sales sector, also increased due to higher incentive
compensation, transaction costs, and administrative expenses. 

The provision for possible losses of $11 million decreased $2 million from 1996. The allowance for
possible losses increased to $122 million, representing 5.8% of net investments, as compared to
6.6% at the end of last year.

The share of affiliates’ earnings increased by $3 million to $17 million despite the technology equip-
ment business no longer being accounted for as a joint venture for 1997. During 1997, Capital
recorded affiliate earnings from three new joint ventures, including two aircraft partnerships and the
newly-formed joint venture with Pitney Bowes. Affiliate earnings also increased at Locomotive Leas-
ing Partners, a joint venture established in 1996 with Electro-Motive Division of General Motors.

Capital continued to manage and change its portfolio mix during 1997, with aircraft now represent-
ing a proportionally smaller part of total assets while the rail and technology sectors grew. Strategic
aircraft sales, the Pitney Bowes transaction (primarily rail assets), and substantial technology leasing
investment volume were the drivers of the change in asset concentrations. 

TERMINALS AND PIPELINES Terminals’ gross income for 1997 of $293 million was 2% less than 1996
primarily due to the continued softness in both the domestic and international petroleum markets.
In general, the petroleum market was characterized by competitive pricing pressures as refineries
continued to produce on a just-in-time basis thereby reducing the demand for storage. Gross
income related to services provided to the chemical market remained steady with 1996 while
pipeline revenues improved slightly. 

While throughput of petroleum products remained strong, rates further declined from the 1996 
levels. Throughput for 1997, defined as barrels delivered to customers, of 639 million barrels at all
wholly-owned locations remained steady with 1996. Average storage utilization for the year was
91%, an improvement of 5% over 1996.

Terminals’ net loss for 1997 was $116 million, including the effects of a $124 million after-tax
restructuring charge. On an operating basis, Terminals’ 1997 income of $8 million declined from the
prior year’s $13 million. The difficult petroleum market conditions resulted in a 4% decrease in

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
1997 COMPARED TO 1996 (CONTINUED)
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operating margin. Overall operating costs and SG&A expenses decreased by 1% from 1996. 
Fixed asset ownership costs, which include interest and depreciation, increased to 38% of revenue
from 35% primarily due to the full year impact of significant facility and infrastructure investments
made in 1996. The share of affiliates’ earnings of $13 million increased by $1 million from 1996
reflecting improved results primarily from European chemical markets. Asian results approximated
the prior year, with improvement in the chemical market offset by foreign exchange rate variances. 

During the fourth quarter of 1997, Terminals recorded an after-tax provision of $124 million
reflecting the results of a strategic review. Initial steps were taken to sell or close certain locations
including the Staten Island terminal and seven storage facilities which make up GATX Terminals
Limited in the United Kingdom. Additionally, adjustments were made to the carrying cost of cer-
tain other locations where conditions indicated that asset values were impaired. Throughput and
utilization for the facilities not designated for sale or closure were 560 million barrels and 93%,
respectively in 1997. 

LOGISTICS AND WAREHOUSING Logistics’ gross income of $257 million decreased 4% due to the
impact of lost business and slower production periods by certain customers. New customers and
increased business with existing customers somewhat offset this decrease. Total warehouse capacity
at year end of 21.4 million square feet was in-line with 1996. Space utilization of 95% improved by
4% from last year.

Logistics’ net loss for 1997 was $37 million, including the effects of a $39 million after-tax charge
related to the write-down of goodwill relating to certain past acquisitions involved in public ware-
housing to better reflect the economics of that sector of the industry. On an operating basis, Logis-
tics’ 1997 income of $1.6 million grew from the prior year’s $.9 million. Operating margins for 1997
improved to 10.0% from 9.6% in 1996 due to replacing some of the lost public warehousing busi-
ness with more profitable contract logistics business, productivity improvements, and reduced
empty space.

GREAT LAKES SHIPPING Gross income in 1997 was $91 million, a 7% improvement from 1996 due to
increased tonnage carried and residual sharing fees earned by partnering with GATX Capital in a
third-party vessel financing and remarketing. Cargo carried in 1997 totaled 26.4 million tons, a 7%
increase from the 24.6 million tons carried in 1996 primarily from coal cargoes. Strong customer
demand, favorable weather conditions, and high water levels all contributed to the solid performance.

Record income of $7.9 million increased by $2.5 million or 46% from 1996. The residual sharing
fees contributed $1.3 million with the balance primarily due to the margin on the increased tonnage
carried. Contribution margin per ton was 4% greater than the prior year due to a change in mix of
commodities carried as well as operating efficiencies. 

ASC carried an estimated 22% of the total U.S. flag Great Lakes tonnage, similar to 1996. U.S. flag
tonnage was 118 million tons, an increase of 8 million tons from 1996. Iron ore cargoes represented
43% of ASC’s tonnage, 7% less than the prior year. Domestic raw steel production was approxi-
mately 90% in 1997, up 2% from 1996. Coal cargoes represented 24% of ASC’s tonnage, up from
21% as a result of new business.

CORPORATE AND OTHER Corporate and Other net expense of $21 million increased by $2 million
from 1996 primarily due to the reversal in 1996 of a legal reserve following the successful defense of
litigation against GATX.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
1997 COMPARED TO 1996 (CONTINUED)
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GATX LOCATION OF OPERATIONS

GENERAL 
AMERICAN
TRANSPORTATION
CORPORATION

HEADQUARTERS

Chicago, Illinois

BUSINESS OFFICES

Valencia, California
Atlanta, Georgia
Chicago, Illinois
Hackensack, New Jersey
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
Houston, Texas
Mexico City, Mexico
Calgary, Alberta
Toronto, Ontario
Montreal, Quebec

MAJOR SERVICE CENTERS

Colton, California
Waycross, Georgia
East Chicago, Indiana
Hearne, Texas
Tierra Blanca, Mexico
Red Deer, Alberta
Montreal, Quebec
Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan

MINI SERVICE CENTERS

Muscle Shoals, Alabama
White Springs, Florida
Terre Haute, Indiana
Plaquemine, Louisiana
Midland, Michigan
Cincinnati, Ohio
Masury, Ohio
Catoosa, Oklahoma
Copper Hill, Tennessee
Freeport, Texas

MOBILE SERVICE UNITS

Mobile, Alabama
Colton, California
Macon, Georgia
East Chicago, Indiana
Geismar, Louisiana
Norco, Louisiana
Carteret, New Jersey
Las Cruces, New Mexico
Albany, New York
Galena Park, Texas
Olympia, Washington

Altamira, Mexico
Guaymas, Mexico
Tamarinda, Mexico
Edmonton, Alberta
Red Deer, Alberta
Vancouver, British Columbia
Sarnia, Ontario
Montreal, Quebec
Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan

AFFILIATES

Buenos Aires, Argentina
Vienna, Austria
Hamburg, Germany
Zug, Switzerland

GATX 
TERMINALS
CORPORATION

HEADQUARTERS

Chicago, Illinois

TERMINALS

Carson, California
Richmond, California
San Pedro, California
Orlando, Florida
Tampa, Florida
Argo, Illinois
Carteret, New Jersey
Paulsboro, New Jersey
Portland, Oregon (2)
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Galena Park, Texas
Pasadena, Texas
Seattle, Washington
Altamira, Mexico

PIPELINES

CALNEV PIPE LINE

Adelanto, California
Barstow, California
Colton, California
Las Vegas, Nevada

CENTRAL FLORIDA PIPELINE

Orlando, Florida
Tampa, Florida

MANCHESTER JET LINE

Manchester, United Kingdom

TERMINAL AFFILIATES

Antwerpen/Lillo, Belgium
Lanshan, China
Kawasaki, Japan

Kobe, Japan
Yokohama, Japan
Kertih, Malaysia
Jurong Town, Singapore
Pulau Busing, Singapore
Barcelona, Spain
Bilboa, Spain
Tarragona, Spain
Valencia, Spain
Seal Sands, United Kingdom

PIPELINE AFFILIATE

OLYMPIC PIPELINE

Renton, Washington

GATX 
CAPITAL 
CORPORATION

HEADQUARTERS

San Francisco, California

OFFICES

Burbank, California
Tampa, Florida
Chicago, Illinois

Eden Prairie, Minnesota
Sydney, Australia
Toronto, Canada
Blagnac, France
Frankfurt, Germany
Singapore, Republic of Singapore
Tokyo, Japan

AFFILIATES

Sydney, Australia
San Francisco, California
LaGrange, Illinois
Toronto, Ontario
Zug, Switzerland
Elstree, United Kingdom
Woking, United Kingdom

AMERICAN
STEAMSHIP
COMPANY

HEADQUARTERS

Williamsville, New York

REGIONAL OFFICE

Toledo, Ohio

VESSELS

M/V Indiana Harbor
M/V Walter J. McCarthy, Jr.
M/V St. Clair
M/V American Mariner
M/V H. Lee White

M/V Charles E. Wilson
M/V Adam E. Cornelius
M/V American Republic
M/V Buffalo
M/V Sam Laud
Str. John J. Boland

GATX 
LOGISTICS, 
INC.

HEADQUARTERS

Jacksonville, Florida

LOCATIONS

Little Rock, Arkansas
Bell, California
Industry, California
Mira Loma, California
Ontario, California
Stockton, California
Danbury, Connecticut
Jacksonville, Florida
Atlanta, Georgia
Dacula, Georgia
Bedford Park, Illinois
Bolingbrook, Illinois
Chicago, Illinois
Hodgkins, Illinois

Normal, Illinois
Richmond, Indiana
Indianapolis, Indiana
Shreveport, Louisiana
Elkridge, Maryland
Coloma, Michigan
Grand Rapids, Michigan
Kalamazoo, Michigan
Bloomington, Minnesota
Delisle, Mississippi
Sardis, Mississippi
Greensboro, North Carolina
Winston-Salem, North Carolina
New York, New York
Syracuse, New York
Akron, Ohio
Obetz, Ohio

Westerville, Ohio
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma
Bedford, Pennsylvania
Arlington, Texas
Carrolton, Texas
El Paso, Texas
Fort Worth, Texas
Grand Prairie, Texas
Clearfield, Utah
Chesapeake, Virginia
Seattle, Washington
Racine, Wisconsin
Toronto, Canada
Tepotzotlan, Mexico
Puerto Rico

AFFILIATE

Santiago, Chile
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

In Millions, Except Number of Shares – – – – – – – – – – – – – DOLLARS – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – – SHARES – – – – – – – – – – – – – –

December 31 1998 1997 1996 1998 1997 1996

PREFERRED STOCK

Balance at beginning of period $ —) $ 3.4) $ 3.4) 26,365) 3,418,705) 3,431,020)
Conversion of preferred stock

into common stock —) (3.4) —) (300) (3,392,340) (12,315)

Balance at end of period —) —) 3.4) 26,065) 26,365) 3,418,705)

COMMON STOCK

Balance at beginning of period 34.1) 28.8) 28.6) 54,480,556) 46,129,548) 45,792,814)

Issuance of common stock .2) .4) .2) 340,107) 548,754) 275,154)
Conversion of preferred stock

into common stock —) 4.9) —) 1,500) 7,802,254) 61,580)

Balance at end of period 34.3) 34.1) 28.8) 54,822,163) 54,480,556) 46,129,548)

TREASURY STOCK

Balance at beginning of period (46.8) (47.0) (47.1) (5,539,440) (5,580,078) (5,581,908)
Issuance of common stock —) .2) .1) 1,210) 40,638) 1,830)

Balance at end of period (46.8) (46.8) (47.0) (5,538,230) (5,539,440) (5,580,078)

ADDITIONAL CAPITAL

Balance at beginning of period 322.6) 314.6) 310.5)

Issuance of common stock 9.0) 13.0) 4.1)
Conversion of preferred stock

into common stock —) (5.0) —)

Balance at end of period 331.6) 322.6) 314.6)

REINVESTED EARNINGS

Balance at beginning of period 363.4) 463.7) 409.0)

Net income (loss) 131.9) (50.9) 102.7)
Dividends declared (49.3) (49.4) (48.0)

Balance at end of period 446.0) 363.4) 463.7)

ACCUMULATED OTHER

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Balance at beginning of period (17.9) 11.4) 13.4)

Foreign currency translation loss (16.3) (28.3) (7.6)
Unrealized gain (loss) on 

securities, net 2.0) (1.0) 5.6)

Balance at end of period (32.2) (17.9) 11.4)

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY $ 732.9) $ 655.4) $ 774.9)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

In Millions/Year Ended December 31 1998 1997 1996

Net income (loss) $ 131.9) $ (50.9) $ 102.7)

Other comprehensive income
(loss), net of tax

Foreign currency translation loss (16.3) (28.3) (7.6)
Unrealized gain (loss) on
securities, net 2.0) (1.0) 5.6)

Other comprehensive loss (14.3) (29.3) (2.0)

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) $ 117.6) $ (80.2) $ 100.7)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’
EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
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GATX LOCATION OF OPERATIONS

GENERAL 
AMERICAN
TRANSPORTATION
CORPORATION

HEADQUARTERS

Chicago, Illinois

BUSINESS OFFICES

Valencia, California
Atlanta, Georgia
Chicago, Illinois
Hackensack, New Jersey
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania
Houston, Texas
Mexico City, Mexico
Calgary, Alberta
Toronto, Ontario
Montreal, Quebec

MAJOR SERVICE CENTERS

Colton, California
Waycross, Georgia
East Chicago, Indiana
Hearne, Texas
Tierra Blanca, Mexico
Red Deer, Alberta
Montreal, Quebec
Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan

MINI SERVICE CENTERS

Muscle Shoals, Alabama
White Springs, Florida
Terre Haute, Indiana
Plaquemine, Louisiana
Midland, Michigan
Cincinnati, Ohio
Masury, Ohio
Catoosa, Oklahoma
Copper Hill, Tennessee
Freeport, Texas

MOBILE SERVICE UNITS

Mobile, Alabama
Colton, California
Macon, Georgia
East Chicago, Indiana
Geismar, Louisiana
Norco, Louisiana
Carteret, New Jersey
Las Cruces, New Mexico
Albany, New York
Galena Park, Texas
Olympia, Washington

Altamira, Mexico
Guaymas, Mexico
Tamarinda, Mexico
Edmonton, Alberta
Red Deer, Alberta
Vancouver, British Columbia
Sarnia, Ontario
Montreal, Quebec
Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan

AFFILIATES

Buenos Aires, Argentina
Vienna, Austria
Hamburg, Germany
Zug, Switzerland

GATX 
TERMINALS
CORPORATION

HEADQUARTERS

Chicago, Illinois

TERMINALS

Carson, California
Richmond, California
San Pedro, California
Orlando, Florida
Tampa, Florida
Argo, Illinois
Carteret, New Jersey
Paulsboro, New Jersey
Portland, Oregon (2)
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Galena Park, Texas
Pasadena, Texas
Seattle, Washington
Altamira, Mexico

PIPELINES

CALNEV PIPE LINE

Adelanto, California
Barstow, California
Colton, California
Las Vegas, Nevada

CENTRAL FLORIDA PIPELINE

Orlando, Florida
Tampa, Florida

MANCHESTER JET LINE

Manchester, United Kingdom

TERMINAL AFFILIATES

Antwerpen/Lillo, Belgium
Lanshan, China
Kawasaki, Japan

Kobe, Japan
Yokohama, Japan
Kertih, Malaysia
Jurong Town, Singapore
Pulau Busing, Singapore
Barcelona, Spain
Bilboa, Spain
Tarragona, Spain
Valencia, Spain
Seal Sands, United Kingdom

PIPELINE AFFILIATE

OLYMPIC PIPELINE

Renton, Washington

GATX 
CAPITAL 
CORPORATION

HEADQUARTERS

San Francisco, California

OFFICES

Burbank, California
Tampa, Florida
Chicago, Illinois

Eden Prairie, Minnesota
Sydney, Australia
Toronto, Canada
Blagnac, France
Frankfurt, Germany
Singapore, Republic of Singapore
Tokyo, Japan

AFFILIATES

Sydney, Australia
San Francisco, California
LaGrange, Illinois
Toronto, Ontario
Zug, Switzerland
Elstree, United Kingdom
Woking, United Kingdom

AMERICAN
STEAMSHIP
COMPANY

HEADQUARTERS

Williamsville, New York

REGIONAL OFFICE

Toledo, Ohio

VESSELS

M/V Indiana Harbor
M/V Walter J. McCarthy, Jr.
M/V St. Clair
M/V American Mariner
M/V H. Lee White

M/V Charles E. Wilson
M/V Adam E. Cornelius
M/V American Republic
M/V Buffalo
M/V Sam Laud
Str. John J. Boland

GATX 
LOGISTICS, 
INC.

HEADQUARTERS

Jacksonville, Florida

LOCATIONS

Little Rock, Arkansas
Bell, California
Industry, California
Mira Loma, California
Ontario, California
Stockton, California
Danbury, Connecticut
Jacksonville, Florida
Atlanta, Georgia
Dacula, Georgia
Bedford Park, Illinois
Bolingbrook, Illinois
Chicago, Illinois
Hodgkins, Illinois

Normal, Illinois
Richmond, Indiana
Indianapolis, Indiana
Shreveport, Louisiana
Elkridge, Maryland
Coloma, Michigan
Grand Rapids, Michigan
Kalamazoo, Michigan
Bloomington, Minnesota
Delisle, Mississippi
Sardis, Mississippi
Greensboro, North Carolina
Winston-Salem, North Carolina
New York, New York
Syracuse, New York
Akron, Ohio
Obetz, Ohio

Westerville, Ohio
Oklahoma City, Oklahoma
Bedford, Pennsylvania
Arlington, Texas
Carrolton, Texas
El Paso, Texas
Fort Worth, Texas
Grand Prairie, Texas
Clearfield, Utah
Chesapeake, Virginia
Seattle, Washington
Racine, Wisconsin
Toronto, Canada
Tepotzotlan, Mexico
Puerto Rico

AFFILIATE

Santiago, Chile
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GATX OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS

GATX OFFICERS

RONALD H. ZECH

Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer

DAVID M. EDWARDS

Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

DAVID B. ANDERSON

Vice President, 
Corporate Development,
General Counsel and 
Secretary

WILLIAM L. CHAMBERS

Vice President, 
Human Resources

GAIL L. DUDDY

Vice President, 
Compensation, Benefits,
and Corporate Human 
Resources

BRIAN A. KENNEY

Vice President–Finance

RALPH L. O’HARA

Controller

CLIFFORD J. PORZENHEIM

Vice President–Corporate
Strategy

THOMAS W. REEDY

Treasurer

GATX BOARD OF DIRECTORS

JAMES M. DENNY1,2

Managing Director, William Blair
Capital Partners, LLC

RICHARD M. FAIRBANKS1,4

Managing Director of 
Domestic & International Issues, 
Center for Strategic &
International Studies

WILLIAM C. FOOTE3,4

Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, USG Corporation

DEBORAH M. FRETZ3,4

Senior Vice President, 
Lubricants and Logistics, 
Sun Company, Inc.

RICHARD A. GIESEN2,3

Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer, Continental 
Glass & Plastic, Inc.

MILES L. MARSH1,4

Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer, 
Fort James Corporation

CHARLES MARSHALL2,3

Retired: Former Vice Chairman 
of the Board, American Telephone
and Telegraph Company

MICHAEL E. MURPHY1,2

Retired: Former Vice Chairman
and Chief Administrative Officer,
Sara Lee Corporation

JOHN W. ROGERS, JR.4

President, Ariel Capital 
Management, Inc.

RONALD H. ZECH

Chairman, President and 
Chief Executive Officer, 
GATX Corporation

1Member, Audit Committee
2Member, Compensation Committee
3Member, Nominating Committee
4Member, Retirement Funds 
Review Committee

GATX SUBSIDIARIES 

GENERAL AMERICAN

TRANSPORTATION CORPORATION

D. Ward Fuller, President

GATX CAPITAL CORPORATION

Jesse V. Crews, President

GATX TERMINALS CORPORATION

Anthony J. Andrukaitis, President

GATX LOGISTICS, INC.
Joseph A. Nicosia, President

AMERICAN STEAMSHIP COMPANY

Ned A. Smith, President

GATX LIQUID LOGISTICS, INC.
Stephen H. Fraser, 
Managing Director
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GATX CORPORATE INFORMATION

ANNUAL MEETING
Friday, April 23, 1999, 9:00 a.m.
GATX Corporation
500 West Monroe Street
Chicago, Illinois 60661-3676

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 
AND PRESS RELEASES:
A copy of the company’s annual report on 
Form 10-K for 1998 and selected other 
information are available without charge. 

Corporate information and press releases may 
be found at http://www.gatx.com. A variety of cur-
rent financial information, historical financial infor-
mation, press releases and photographs are available
at this site.

GATX press releases may be obtained by automated
PR Newswire Company News On-Call’s auto-
mated fax service at (800) 758-5804. The company
identification number for GATX is 105121. 

INQUIRIES
Inquiries regarding dividend checks, the dividend
reinvestment plan, stock certificates, replacement 
of lost certificates, address changes, account 
consolidation, transfer procedures and year-end 
tax information should be addressed to GATX 
Corporation’s Transfer Agent and Registrar:

Chase Mellon Shareholder Services, L.L.C. 
Overpeck Centre
85 Challenger Road
Ridgefield Park, NJ 07660
Telephone: (800) 851-9677
Internet: http://www.chasemellon.com

INFORMATION RELATING TO SHAREHOLDER

OWNERSHIP, DIVIDEND PAYMENTS, 
OR SHARE TRANSFERS:

Lisa M. Ibarra, Assistant Corporate Secretary
Telephone: (312) 621-6603
Fax: (312) 621-6647
Email: lmibarra@gatx.com

GATX Corporation welcomes and encourages
questions and comments from its shareholders,
potential investors, financial professionals and the
public at large. To better serve interested parties, 
the following GATX personnel may be contacted
by telephone, fax and/or writing. 

TO REQUEST PUBLISHED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

AND FINANCIAL REPORTS, CONTACT:

GATX CORPORATION
Investor Relations Department
500 West Monroe Street
Chicago, Illinois 60661-3676
Telephone: (800) 428-8161

Automated request line for materials: 
(312) 621-6300

INDIVIDUAL INVESTORS INQUIRIES:

Janet Bower, Investor Relations Analyst
Telephone: (312) 621-4297
Fax: (312) 621-6698
Email: jmbower@gatx.com

ANALYSTS, INSTITUTIONAL SHAREHOLDERS AND

FINANCIAL COMMUNITY PROFESSIONALS:

Robert C. Lyons, Director of Investor Relations
Telephone: (312) 621-6633
Email: rclyons@gatx.com

Aaron H. Hoffman, Manager Investor and 
Public Relations
Telephone: (312) 621-6493
Email: ahhoffman@gatx.com
Fax: (312) 621-6698

QUESTIONS REGARDING SALES, SERVICE OR

LEASE INFORMATION:

General American Transportation Corporation
(312) 621-6564

GATX Capital Corporation– (415) 955-3200

GATX Terminals Corporation– (312) 621-8032

GATX Logistics, Inc.– (904) 396-2517

American Steamship Company– (716) 635-0222

GATX Liquid Logistics, Inc.– (312) 621-6200

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS
Ernst & Young LLP
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